Nurse to Nurse: A Prescription for Cultural Care for Elderly Russian Non-English Speaking Patients in Nursing

by

Tatyana B. Rusakova, ADN, RN

A Thesis presented to the

FACULTY OF THE SCHOOL OF NURSING

POINT LOMA NAZARENE UNIVERSITY

in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN NURSING

December 2012

Committee

Jeanne Maiden, PhD, CNS, Chair

Barbara Taylor, PhD, RN, Member

POINT LOMA NAZARENE UNIVERSITY

School of Nursing

Master of Science in Nursing

NAME OF STUDENT:

Tatyana B. Rusakova, ADN, RN

TITLE OF THESIS:

Nurse to Nurse: A Prescription for Cultural Care

for Elderly Russian Non-English Speaking Patients

Jeanne Macceci 12/11/12
Jeanne Maiden, PhD, RN, Chair Date

COMMITTEE:

Abstract

The growing ethnically and racially diversity of the American population has a direct impact on healthcare providers. Immigration and demographic trends suggest that increasingly the U.S. elderly patient populations are linguistically and culturally diverse. A patient's inability to communicate in the same language as a provider will compromise patient health and safety. In addition, it will expose health care providers to the risk of legal liability for medical errors, malpractice, or deprivation of the patient's right to participate in health decisions. The purpose of this phenomenological qualitative study was to explain the essence of caring for the elderly non-English speaking Russian patients through the experience of Russian-speaking nurses. Leininger's Culture Care Theory and Husserl's phenomenological approach were used for this study. The data was collected through semi-structured individual interviews. Three main themes were noted from the interviews conducted regarding the healthcare of the elderly Russian non-English speaking patients. The three themes were: family connections, period of time living in America (phase of adaptation process), and compliance with treatment. This research paper provided information about Russian culture and cultural competence, as well as strategies to enhance healthcare professionals' capacity to deliver culturally competent services for the elderly Russian non-English speaking patients.

Keywords: ethnic health disparities, Leininger's theory, elderly non-English speaking
Russian, Russian speaking nurses, cultural care

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter One: Introduction	1
Significance of the Problem	3
Statement of the Problem	4
Statement of the Purpose.	4
Chapter Two: Literature Review	6
Intercultural Care and the Immigration Adaptation Process	8
Russian Immigration History	10
Culturally Competent Care	11
Conceptual Framework	14
Chapter Three: Methods	16
Participants	16
Data Collection	16
Data Analysis	17
Chapter Four: Results	19
Theme 1: Family Connection	19
Theme 2: Period of Time Living in America (Adaptation Process)	20
Theme 3: Compliance With Treatment	22
Chapter Five: Discussion	25
Theme 1: Family Connection	25
Theme 2: Period of Time Living in America (Adaptation Process)	26
Theme 3: Compliance With Treatment	29

Study Limitations and Areas for Future Research	31
Conclusion	32
References	34

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A: Demographic Form Informed

Appendix B: Consent to Participate in Research

Appendix C: Interview Questions

Appendix D: IRB Approval – Point Loma Nazarene University

CHAPTER ONE

Introduction

Racial and ethnic health disparities are among the most serious healthcare problems in the United States (Smedly, Stith, & Nelson, 2003). Estimates suggest that these disparities lead to more than 83,000 more deaths per year for Blacks than Whites (Satcher, Fryer, McCann, Troutman, Woolf, & Rust, 2005). Because they also undermine the core value of equality in American society (Smith, 2005), elimination of health disparities has become one of the primary goals of the U.S. healthcare system (Smedly et al., 2003).

During the last century the U.S. population has become more ethnically and racially diverse; however, only recently have healthcare organizations begun to realize the importance of and considerable challenges involved with redirecting their attention to the nation's ethnic subgroups (Krumeich, Weijts, Reddy, & Meijer-Weitz, 2001; Johnstone & Kanitsaki, 2006). Statistics show that in United States approximately 52 million residents (1 in 12) speak a language other than English in their homes (Kepler, 2006). The U.S. Census Bureau reported that as of 2007, 1 in 5 Americans lived in a household where a language other than English was primarily spoken (2011).

Bergelson (2003) posited that in any language there are idiomatic and colloquial expressions that can be easily misunderstood by those who are conversant in the language but not native speakers; thus, it is very important to understand the health beliefs and obtain health knowledge of immigrant populations in the U.S. For these reasons, addressing the healthcare needs of elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients requires attention not only to language but also to culture, which connects in complex ways for the multi-cultural American patient population (Shpilko, 2006).

All industries face barriers and challenges in finding the right approach to multicultural populations, but the challenge is significantly greater in healthcare than in other industries. There is no margin for error when it a patient's health and/or life are at stake. Failure to provide services based on patient needs and values often stems from a lack of knowledge about the patient's ethnic group (Smedly et al., 2003).

Too often, myths and false beliefs cause clinical staff to develop inaccurate perceptions of a specific cultural group. Even more problematic, however, is that the U.S. healthcare system does not conform to the health-related beliefs and practices of many ethnically diverse groups (Meyerowitz, Richardson, Hudson, & Leedham, 1998).

The topic of culturally competent care for elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients is also of great personal interest. As a nurse and a Russian immigrant, the author can relate from personal experience the importance of cultural awareness in U.S. healthcare and feels a great obligation to increase nurses' cultural competence through providing educational tools.

The first wave of Russian immigration to America began in 1747 when fur traders arrived in Alaska (Trumbauer & Asher, 2004). Russians were among the first Europeans to discover the North Pacific islands and Northwest coast of North America, and in the late nineteenth century, large-scale emigration from Russia to the United States began.. Since that time, four distinct periods of immigration can be identified: 1880s-1914; 1920-1939; 1945-1955; and 1970s-present (Khisamutdinov, 2002). The primary reasons for emigration were economic hardship, political repression, religious discrimination, or a combination of those factors.

Significance of the Problem

The growing ethnic and racial diversity of America has a direct impact on healthcare providers. Immigration and demographic trends suggest that the U.S. elderly patient populations

continue to become linguistically and culturally diverse. In order to deliver appropriate and safe medical care, effective communication between patients and care providers must be established (The Joint Commission [TJC], 2010). Accordingly, it is vital for healthcare organizations to recognize patient diversity and educate staff to continue delivering high quality care. Healthcare services can no longer be provided using solely English-speaking methods; other cultures and languages must be considered in a knowledgeable and sensitive manner (Clegg, 2003; De & Richardson, 2008).

The national standards for Culturally and Linguistically Appropriate Services (CLAS) issued by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services help provide equitable, effective treatment for all patients and correct inequities that currently exist in the provision of healthcare. By making CLAS available to diverse patients, the healthcare organization has an opportunity to improve the quality of care and achieve greater health outcomes (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 2001). There are 14 standards organized into 3 themes: culturally competent care (Standards 1-3), rules for language access services (Standards 4-7), and organizational support for cultural competence (Standards 8-14; U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 2001).

Statement of the Problem

Health disparities are differences in the incidence, prevalence, mortality, and burden of disease and other adverse health conditions that exist between specific population groups in the United States (National Institutes of Health [NIH], 2000). This definition of health disparities assumes not only a difference in health but a difference in the way that social groups who have

persistently experienced social disadvantage or discrimination experience health or health risks in relation to more advantaged social groups (Braveman, 2006). These differences are often attributed to conscious or unconscious biases, provider biases, and institutional discriminatory policies toward patients of diverse socioeconomic status, race, ethnicity, and/or gender orientation (Braveman, 2006).

A patient's inability to communicate in the same language as a provider compromises patient health and safety (Schyve, 2007). In addition, it exposes healthcare providers to the risk of legal liability for medical errors, malpractice, or deprivation of the patient's right to participate in health decisions (Johnstone & Kanitsaki, 2006; Quan, 2010). Specific cultural knowledge about elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients that can prevent these undesired results needs to be identified.

Statement of the Purpose

The purpose of this phenomenological qualitative study was to explain the essence of the experience of Russian-speaking nurses caring for elderly, non-English speaking Russian patients. In healthcare, the terms *care*, *caring*, and *healthcare* have been used interchangeably. And although Florence Nightingale first used the concept of caring in relation to nursing in the 1800s as "helping people live or survive in their physical or natural environment," its function has never been fully defined or explicated (Nightingale, 1986, p.6). *Caring* is defined for this study as "meeting human needs through caring, empathetic, respectful interaction within which responsibility, intentionality and advocacy form an essential, integral foundation" (Burhans & Alligood, 2010, p. 1694).

Cultural competence is defined for this study as the attitudes, knowledge, and skills necessary for providing quality care to diverse populations (Assembly Bill No. 716, 2002). It has

additionally been described as "an ongoing process that involves accepting and respecting differences and not letting one's personal beliefs have an undue influence on those whose worldview is different from one's own" (Giger, Davidhizar, Purnell, Harden, Phillips, & Strickland, 2007, p. 96). Cultural imposition intrusively applies the majority cultural view to individuals and families (Scheppers, Dongenb, Dekkerc, Geertzend, & Dekkere, 2006); examples that border on cultural imposition are prescribing a special diet without regard to the client's culture and limiting visitors to immediate family. Healthcare providers should be cognizant of expressing their cultural values too strongly until cultural issues are more fully understood (Giger et al., 2007).

CHAPTER TWO

Literature Review

As the United States becomes increasingly diverse, its healthcare system faces the enormous challenge of providing quality services to patients with limited English-speaking skills. Increased attention to quality improvement and medical error reduction cannot overlook the critical element of effective communication between healthcare providers and patients in ensuring successful health outcomes (Divi, Koss, Schmaltz, & Loeb, 2007).

Barriers to access of healthcare in the United States for immigrant patients have been extensively documented. Documentation of the impact of a language barrier on the delivery of quality care can be found in major governmental reports, including the Institute of Medicine's (IOM) report on racial and ethnic disparities in healthcare (Smedly et al., 2003) and the U.S. Office of Management and Budget's (OMB) congressional report, "Assessment of the Total Benefits and Costs of Implementing Executive Order No. 13166: Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency" (2002).

Executive Order No. 13166 requires federal agencies to examine the services they provide, identify any need for services to those with limited English proficiency (LEP), and develop and implement a system to provide those services so LEP persons can have meaningful access to them. The order also stipulates that federal agencies work to ensure that recipients of federal financial assistance provide meaningful access to their LEP applicants and beneficiaries (Exec. Order No. 13166, 65 C.F.R. 159, 2000).

Individuals involved in healthcare delivery interact daily with patients from many different cultural and linguistic backgrounds. Because culture and language are vital factors in how healthcare services are delivered and received, it is important that healthcare organizations

and their staff understand and respond with sensitivity to the needs and preferences that diverse patients bring to the health encounter (Schyve, 2007). Providing culturally and linguistically appropriate services (CLAS) to these patients has the potential to improve access to care, quality of care, and, in the long run, health outcomes (Smedly et al., 2003).

A search of the literature related to providing optimal care to Russian and former Soviet Union (FSU) immigrants was conducted using PubMed, Medline and Google databases. Keywords searched were *ethnically diverse*, *U.S. hospitals and Russian patients*, *FSU patients*, *patient safety*, *culture*, and *language*. A manual search was also conducted to maximize the findings on the topic. There was a plethora of literature addressing the relationship between language, culture, and patient safety and addressing specific risks minority patients face when clinical staff do not understand the language or cultural differences (Divi et al., 2007; Quan, 2010).

A critical review of multidisciplinary literature on Russian patients in U.S. hospitals returned few results. Of these results, research reviewed recognized similarities between ethnic groups but omitted analysis of each group individually; this led the author to conclude that although the analysis of minority patients in the literature is extensive, there is a lack of research specifically relating to Russian immigrant patients.

Generally, the research on Russian immigrants and FSU immigrants are combined into one group representing immigrants who speak the Russian language; however, there are significant cultural differences within the regions of the FSU (Encyclopædia Britannica, 2012; Kasatkina, 2011). Therefore, a definition of *Russian* that simply combines all Russian-speaking people into one group is inaccurate and discounts the ethnic differences between these groups.

Additionally, it should be noted that the FSU was a multilingual state, with over 120 languages including Russian spoken natively (U.S. Department of State, 2012).

Intercultural Care and the Immigration Adaptation Process

Intercultural care entails a specific understanding of migratory development and its phases. *Immigration* is the process by which individuals move from one place of residence to another, usually permanently or semi-permanently. Reasons for migration can be economic, social, political, medical, or recreational; in many cases, immigrants were often displaced from a previous life that, while sometimes normal, was all too often characterized by poverty, depression, and violence (Lai, 2004; Thomas & Schwarzbaum, 2006).

Some immigration movements are voluntary, typically including a well-thought out decision and plan, while others are involuntary, spontaneous decisions to escape the home country. Voluntary immigration can seem more involuntary, however, if negative economic, social, or political realities of the home economy influence the decision, giving the immigrant a sense of hopelessness or a perception that he or she has no choice but to emigrate. Moreover, a voluntary immigration may begin to appear involuntary as various aspects make the option of returning home unmanageable.

Regardless of the reasons for immigration, each immigrant will have a different feeling about their relocation experience. These experiences can have an emotional impact on immigrants' adaptation to their host countries, causing anxiety and distrust due to past life events (Bhugra, 2003). Healthcare professionals should be cognizant of patients' immigration experiences and seek a general understanding of the characteristic behaviors and attitudes displayed by "typical" immigrants (Cross, Bazron, Dennis, & Isaacs, 1989).

There are various styles by which the immigrant adapts to his or her new environment. Awareness of these adaptation styles can help healthcare practitioners recognize and identify stressors for patients (Giger et al., 2008). The process of adaptation depends on the pre-immigration lifestyle, the circumstances of travel to the new country, the treatment received following arrival in the new country, and the living environment of the new country. Depending on the severity of the immigration experience, immigrants might not be able to adapt at all and can end up returning to their countries of origin (Poss, 2001).

The adaption process may occur in several processes: complete assimilation, integration, separation, and marginalization (Kasatkina, 2011; Pumariega, Rothe, & Pumariega, 2005). Complete assimilation occurs when individuals are fully immersed in the prevailing culture and slowly abandon the values and beliefs of their home countries. These individuals may even end up losing their native languages or choose not to transmit their native languages to their children (Kasatkina, 2011). Integration is a more traditional approach in which immigrants maintain the culture of their home countries while embracing the values of the new country (Pumariega et al., 2005). In separation, immigrants alienate themselves from the core culture to preserve characteristics of their native cultures. Separation typically occurs when immigrants of the same origin live in close proximity to each other and are able to complete daily tasks without communicating with members of the dominant culture (Casimir, Butler, Jean-Louis, Zizi, Nunes, & Brady, 2010). Finally, marginalization involves immigrants' belief that the host society has completely rejected their cultural values and identities. The most extreme process of adaptation, marginalization fosters antisocial behavior and results in a very limited integration into the new culture (Berry, 1986).

There is little research available on immigrant adaptation processes as they relate to healthcare. However, knowledge about the different adaptation processes can help healthcare providers recognize immigrants' unique needs and identify barriers to access of healthcare services for this population. Additionally, awareness of the challenges immigrants face with social integration can help healthcare providers serve a more diverse population (Campinha-Bacote, 2008).

Russian Immigration History

The first Russians reached America in 1747 when fur traders arrived in Alaska (Trumbauer & Asher, 2004). Russians were among the first Europeans to discover the North Pacific islands and the Northwest coast of North America (Trumbauer & Asher, 2004). The next large-scale immigration of Russians to the U.S. did not occur until late into the 19th century, when immigrants began to arrive in waves. Following the Revolution of 1917, the biggest immigration wave began in 1987 and established an annual total of 700,000 new entries per year (Liberovsky, 2006). Non-ethnic Russians in this group included Jews, Ukrainians, and any other person born and raised in Russia or the FSU.

Acculturation is a process by which one cultural group implements the beliefs and traditions of a host culture (Mills & Henretta, 2001). Acculturation is multidimensional and includes physical, psychological, financial, social, language, and relational adjustment. It is widely recognized in the literature that the process of acculturation can be very stressful for elderly immigrants in the United States because they often lack the financial and educational resources and English language proficiency required for successful adaptation (Benisovich & King, 2003; Lai, 2004; Suurmond, Uiters, de Bruijne, Stronks, & Essink-Bot, 2011).

Culturally Competent Care

Cultural competence can be defined in many different ways, as this term constantly evolves with the rapidly changing diversity in society. The general definition is a tradition of similar behaviors, approaches, and regulations that come together in a system, agency, or among professionals to allow them to work effectively in cross-cultural situations (Cross et al., 1989).

The first element of this concept, *culture*, "implies the integrated patterns of human behavior that includes thoughts, communications, actions, customs, beliefs, values, as well as institutions of racial, ethnic, religious, or social groups" (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 2001). Culture is developed through different social standards, values, and various economic factors. The progress of culture can be different for every individual; however, in order to develop a bond with other people and build social relationships, the dynamic of culture must be shared. Understanding values of diverse cultures builds mutual respect and understanding (Betancourt, Green, & Carrillo, 2002).

Cultural differences impact the healthcare community and, most importantly, influence the delivery of healthcare services (Jezewski & Sotnik, 2001). Culture plays a central role in the way individuals perceive health, symptoms of illness, and healing methods; for example, where one culture believes in using heat to treat a certain ailment, another culture could strongly advise against it. On the other hand, modern healthcare was developed on the concept of ethnocentrism and is strongly focused on the incorporation of technology and science for the treatment of ailments; alternative healing methods are often disregarded as obsolete. The modern healthcare environment is often perceived by patients to be very complex, intimidating, and unfamiliar. This is why it is important to develop a healthcare environment organized around the needs of the patients to be served (White, 2000).

Competence refers to the ability to function within the context of culturally integrated patterns of human behavior defined by a group (Betancourt et al., 2002). Cultural competence is defined as "a process that requires individuals and systems to develop and expand their ability and to have respect for cultural diversity" (Haden, Catalanotto, Alexander, Bailit, Battrell, Broussard, & Buchanan et al., 2003, p. 564). Developing cultural competence should increase consciousness, acceptance, and aptitude to learn from and about other health-related cultural beliefs. A key element of developing cultural competency is realizing the importance of effective communication, which requires the disposition to listen and learn from people of other cultures and the establishment of a healthcare environment that provides services in multiple languages (California Cultural Competency Task Force, 1994).

Prejudice is any negative attitude about another person based on his or her group membership. Stereotyping can be defined as the process by which people acquire and recall information about others based on race, sex, religion, etc. (IOM, 2002). Prejudice often associated with stereotyping was defined in psychology as an unjustified negative attitude based on a person's group membership. Stereotyping includes having an attitude, conception, opinion, or belief about a person or group (Giger et al., 2007).

Most healthcare providers find prejudice morally abhorrent and at odds with their professional values (Vaiani, 2009). However, like other members of society, they may not recognize manifestations of prejudice in their own behavior. While there is no direct evidence that provider biases affect the quality of care for minority patients, research suggests that their diagnostic and treatment decisions, as well as their feelings about patients, can be influenced by patients' race or ethnicity (Bobo, 2001). In one experimental design, Abreu (1999) found that mental health professionals were more likely to negatively evaluate a hypothetical patient of

unidentified race when subliminally primed with African American stereotype-laden words than when primed with neutral words. And in a study based on actual clinical encounters, van Ryn and Burke (2000) found that doctors rated Black patients as less intelligent, less educated, more likely to abuse drugs and alcohol, and more unlikely to comply with medical advice.

Stereotypes can also influence interpersonal interactions between providers and patients and contribute to disparities in healthcare (IOM, 2002). Although providers may not recognize manifestations of prejudice in their own behaviors, patients could react to providers' behaviors in a way that contributes to disparities. One such instance is of a healthcare provider who fails to recognize individuality within a group, causing the patient to believe the provider is jumping to conclusions about the patient and his or her family (Giger et al., 2007).

Conceptual Framework

Leininger's cultural care theory provided the organizing framework for this study. Together with the Sunrise Model, this theory is perhaps the most well-known in nursing literature on culture and health (Leininger & McFarland, 2006). It draws from anthropological observations and studies of culture, cultural values, beliefs and practices. The theory of transcultural nursing promotes better understanding of the universally held and common understandings of care among humans as well as the culture-specific caring beliefs and behaviors that define any particular caring context or interaction. Leininger argued that the theory of cultural care diversity and universality is holistic and that culture is the specific pattern of behavior that distinguishes any society from another and gives meaning to human expressions of care (Leininger, 1981).

Leininger recognized the comparative aspects of caring within and between cultures, hence the acknowledgement of both similarities and differences in caring in diverse cultures. The

model has implications for how healthcare professionals assess, plan, implement, and evaluate care of people from diverse cultural backgrounds. It has been used in a wide range of nursing specialties and across cultural groups.

The aim of the cultural care theory was to enable nurses to provide care that confirms patients' cultural perceptions of what care should be. Leininger emphasized the significance and position of culture in describing a person's health and manners (Leininger & McFarland, 2006). The roots of her theory are in clinical nursing practice; Leininger discovered that patients from different cultures appreciated care more than the nurses did. Progressively, Leininger became convinced of the need for a theoretical framework to determine, describe, and calculate measurements of care and developed the cultural care theory after analyzing numerous studies of Western and non-Western cultures (Leininger & McFarland, 2006).

Leininger (2001, 2006) outlines several theoretical expectations and descriptions to guide nurses in their encounter of culture care phenomena. The following expectations regarding care and caring were significant when explaining the essence of caring for elderly, non-English-speaking Russian-American patients:

- care (caring) is crucial to treating and healing; there can be no healing without caring;
- each human culture has lay (ethnic, universal, or traditional) care knowledge and practices and usually some professional care knowledge and practices, which vary transculturally;
- cultural care values, beliefs, and practices are influenced by and tend to be rooted in the language, philosophy, religion, relationship, social, political, illegal, educational, economic, and environmental backgrounds of cultures; and

a patient who faces nursing care that misses the mark of his or her beliefs and values will show signs of cultural conflict, noncompliance, depression, and ethical or moral concern.
 (Leininger, 2001, p. 189)

CHAPTER THREE

Methods

The purpose of this phenomenological qualitative study was to explore the experience of Russian-speaking nurses caring for elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients. This study was based on the experience of Russian-American nurses providing care to this type of patient. The goal of this study was to assist nurses and other healthcare professionals in providing specific care to meet the needs of elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients.

This study utilized Edmund Husserl's phenomenological approach to focus on the participants' experiences of caring rather than on the nature of caring as perceived by participants. A qualitative research design was used to allow the experience of caring to be discovered inductively within the cultural context (Morse & Field, 1998).

Participants

The participants for this study were seven male and female Russian-speaking registered nurses (RNs; Appendix A) with at least five years of experience providing direct, hands-on adult patient care at the general or intermediate care levels of hospitals, adult healthcare centers, and/or outpatient health services of San Diego, California and Tampa, Florida. Participants were renamed with pseudonyms (N1-N7) to ensure confidentiality.

Data Collection

Participants were informed of the purpose of the study and invited to participate in interviews (Appendix B). Participants were informed at the beginning of the interview of their rights to withdraw any time. They were allowed to choose a quiet, safe environment in which they could freely articulate responses.

The data were collected in Russian through one semi-structured tape-recorded interview and one web conference interview via Skype with open-ended questions (Appendix C). Approval for the study was obtained from the Point Loma Nazarene University Institutional Review Board (Appendix D). Fieldnotes were used to document observations relevant to the interview, such as observations about participants' expressions and behaviors, that could not be captured by voice recordings.

Participation in this research study was entirely voluntary and participants could refuse to participate or withdraw any time during the study. All data were collected anonymously so that there was not any way of linking the data with the participants. Participants were asked to fill out demographic data form prior to interviews. Interviews were 45-60 minutes in length. All interviews were then transcribed verbatim into English.

Data Analysis

The data were analyzed, interpreted, and synthesized using Colaizzi's (1978) methodological interpretations. Collaizzi's analysis was chosen as it allowed analysis to occur simultaneously with data collection (Omery, 1983), the stages were flexible and non-linear (Holloway & Wheeler, 1996), and participants validated their transcripts, thereby enhancing the rigor of the study.

After the transcripts of the interview were read and reread, the interview responses were categorized. This allowed for identification of significant statements and meanings of specific cultural care for elderly non-English-speaking Russian patients. Following this step, the researcher's personal notes were compared with the interview data, and the meanings were organized into theme clusters. The researcher referred back to the original translated transcripts for validation., noting any discrepancies. Then, results were integrated into complete descriptions

of the phenomenon of specific care; the process was concluded when all participants had validated the findings.

CHAPTER FOUR

Results

Three main themes emerged from participant interviews on the healthcare of elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients: *family connections*, *period of time living in America* (phase of adaptation process), and *compliance with treatment*.

Theme 1: Family Connection

Family involvement and a strong family bond were described as essential to the experience of caring for elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients. The interaction between the nurse, the patient, and his or her family was best described thus by Russian-speaking nurses surveyed for this research: "Involving the patient's family is a must" (N3). Consequently, for all the participants, the family served as the primary decision-maker in the care of the elderly patients. This description of family involvement appeared throughout the interviews, and participants recommended a family-centered approach for conveying medical information:

...the family makes all the decisions regarding the patient's healthcare and it is important to build good rapport with them in order to provide high quality care (N4).

Most of the times the family will make a decision on the final treatment plan. The patient won't make any decisions on their own, so it will be counterproductive if the family is excluded (N5).

In addition, the presence of the family during the discussion of patient's condition and plan of care was an important factor:

If their family is not here, the patient will ask me to wait to go over the specific treatment options so their family is there to listen, ask questions and make the ultimate decision about the healthcare plan (N1).

Participants noted that care and reassurance from the family also played a large role in patient care:

The support that the elderly receive from their family is the best medicine (N7).

The family also played an important role in helping nurses communicate with the patient and facilitate the patient's care and healing:

[I]t is very important to get the family involved, since dealing directly with the patient could be very difficult (N5).

In cases where the patient refused care, the nurse would work with the family to make the patient comfortable with the treatment plan:

Sometimes I am not able to convince the patient one way or another, but I know family can definitely help in such situations (N2).

Finally, participants pointed out the importance of developing trust in the nurse-family relationship. One participant said, "Always make sure to involve the family during the process. This will make your life easier and the patient will be very happy" (N6).

Theme 2: Period Of Time Living In America (Adaptation Process)

Participants drew attention to the differences in perceptions of medical care between patients who were new arrivers to the U.S. and patients who had lived in the country for some time. One participant stated, "...the longer the patient has been in the United States, the more they will comfortable with communicating with me and they are more confident in the quality of health care that they will receive" (N4). Another noted, "... patients who have been lived in

America for a long time felt more at ease with asking specific healthcare questions and were less apprehensive about the healthcare provided "(N7).

The participants also reported observing that elderly patients who were new immigrant displayed a distrustful attitude, appeared suspicious of healthcare professionals, and were very guarded:

...[they] tend to be suspicious of younger nurses, especially if the nurse is smiling. This type of scenario usually occurs for patients that are new to the United States, as they are not used to people being friendly. Initially, this type of patient believes that the nurse wants something from them or is being unprofessional by smiling at them. As these patients grow more accustomed to the American culture, they begin to understand the friendly demeanor of the nursing staff and become more informed about the hospital rules (N3).

Participants also noted that in the beginning, the elderly patients demonstrated a strong connection to their native cultural practices and health beliefs; however, as time progressed, they became more accustomed to American healthcare beliefs and practices. One nurse described her experience thus:

It is very interesting how I am perceived as a Russian-speaking nurse by the elderly Russian patients who are new to this country. For example, if I were a nurse in Russia, they would all think that I was not smart enough to become a doctor or that I have a bad husband and that's why I am only a nurse and not a doctor. Then afterwards, I would see the same patient come back and they have completely changed their mind on their own. They begin to look at me as their primary health caretaker. This occurs as these patients assimilate into the new American culture (N5).

The nurses also reported that patients who had lived in America for a long time were easier to talk to and were much more receptive to suggestions made by healthcare professionals:

...they are much easier to talk to because they are willing to listen and they try very hard to understand the given situation. For elderly people who have lived here for an extended period of time I just have to remind them of what they have forgotten (N1).

When asked about differences in behavior of patients that have lived in the U.S. longer, one participant noted,

Patients who have lived here for awhile and know the system know there is a big difference between personal and professional relationships. For newcomers it is hard to understand and differentiate the two. It definitely takes some time of getting used to so it is my responsibility to help the patient and the family to understand the laws and professional conduct in the healthcare system" (N6).

Overall, as patients became more accustomed to life in the U.S., they felt more confident, were less afraid to ask questions, and became more familiar with patient healthcare rights.

Theme 3: Compliance With Treatment

Based on participants' responses, many elderly patients who were new immigrants did not seek formal medical care except for complicated cases. Rather, patients took a proactive role in maintaining their own health and often used home remedies or self-treatment for any symptoms identified before seeking physician care. Historically, Russians have greatly respected forms of alternative medicine (e.g., herbal teas, alcoholic tinctures, and other methods to treat disease and promote a healthy lifestyle) and used them often for traditional care. Participants reported patients' use of traditional herbal remedies in conjunction with standard Western medical treatments.

Participants reported that although the patients appeared enormously interested in learning the details of their initial treatment plans and indicated their desire to take a proactive role in their healthcare, they were very suspicious of any medicine prescribed for them and appeared reluctant to take medication even after receiving very detailed explanations from healthcare staff:

[they] are very suspicious of everything. They will double and triple check everything that is given to them. They will contact their relatives and friends in the United States and Russia to seek additional opinions and possible care options and involve everyone around them in their healthcare treatment. They will take medication only if it agrees with their understanding of [the] healthcare treatment (N4).

Some patients simply refused to take any prescribed medication, while others believed that pills were only needed when they experienced symptoms:

I had an elderly man who hid his medication in his cheek because he did not trust American medicine and did not want to tell us anything (N2).

...they refuse to take their blood pressure medicine. I continually hear the same type of response for these patients, such as "Why do I need to take this medicine for blood pressure if I feel normal today?" (N3).

On the other hand, participants believed patients remained very cognizant of their healthcare plans and were more likely to gather information on experimental treatments and more inclined to consider such treatments, especially if they had already obtained previous information about them.

One participant observed, "Most [elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients] are very highly educated individuals" (N6). Thus, it was noted that healthcare professionals must treat these individuals respect and understanding: "...know what you are talking about and don't dismiss this patients as 'old and dumb' just because they do not speak English. They will ask intelligent questions and will be able to determine if your answers are not based on actual knowledge" (N5).

Participants also believed these patients had a very high tolerance for pain and were thus more likely to misstate their actual state of health. One participant reported, "...they can tolerate pain very well and even if they don't, they have been taught not to complain. They tend to say that they are fine, when in reality the pain level could be extremely high" (N7).

CHAPTER FIVE

Discussion

In this study, Russian-speaking nurses provided insight on healthcare beliefs, culturally appropriate methods of care, and interpersonal interaction challenges specific to elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients. The nurses reported that caring for these patients allowed them to share their cultural knowledge and experiences with their peers. Overall, the participants felt that even a limited knowledge of Russian cultural customs and attitudes could help to greatly improve patient interactions and patient-nurse relationships. This is validated in the literature suggesting that patient-nurse trust relations are often influenced by cultural norms and that patient interactions are also impacted by nurses' cultural backgrounds (Takeshita & Ahmed, 2004).

Theme 1: Family Connection

The theme of family connection and involvement emerged in all participant interviews. Based on participants' observations, it was apparent the process of taking care of the elderly patients was a significant responsibility for Russian families. The families treated the patients with respect, went to great lengths to ensure that someone was always available to listen to their concerns and questions, and usually stayed with patients around the clock to make sure they were not alone. In this study, family involvement in patient care was described as a culturally normative behavior. Family was recognized as a very important factor with a significant influence on the patients' emotional, social, and psychological health.

Participants emphasized that getting the family involved and developing a trust in the nurse-family relationship should be a priority for healthcare staff. Similarly, Shpilko (2006) advises nurses caring for elderly Russian patients to determine the role of the patients' families

and highlights that communicating effectively with patients and families is the foundation of providing quality healthcare. Leininger (1981) also argued that including the patient's family in care planning is essential to the delivery of culturally competent care.

Participants reported a tendency for family members to shield patients from their healthcare concerns and worries. As Shpilko (2006) explained, it is the family's "obligation to take on the burden of the truth" (p. 332); such belief demonstrates the intensely familial nature of the Russian community and the importance of their internal support networks. Similarly, Milshteyn and Petrov (2004) found that the problems of the patient were considered family problems and discussed by the entire family. Further, news about the patient's health was delivered to the family, who passed it along to the patient at a later time (Cichocki, 2008). This allows the patient to be surrounded by close family and friends who can provide the support necessary to cope with the news of the illness (Milshteyn & Petrov, 2004). This study corroborates existing research suggesting that the way a healthcare provider communicates information to a patient can be as important as the information being conveyed and that recognizing the role of the patient's family is vital in caring for elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients.

Theme 2: Period Of Time Living In America (Adaptation Process)

Participants also saw a direct correlation between the length of time patients had lived in America and their perceptions of the overall quality of their medical care. Patients who had lived in the U.S. longer were more confident in navigating the healthcare system than patients who had recently begun their lives in the country. Participants noted that elderly patients who had newly arrived to the U.S. demonstrated a strong connection to their native cultural practices and health beliefs, but as time progressed, they became more accustomed to American healthcare beliefs

and practices. This observation of adaption was supported in the literature; Polyakova and Pacquiao (2006) posited that elderly Russians who left the Soviet Union to live in the United States experience the twin challenges of aging and acculturation: "Older members often left their homeland for the sake of their children and subsequently face issues of acculturation and aging at the same time" (p. 44). Some studies suggest that low adaptation acts as a barrier to these individuals' use of health services (Scheppers et al., 2006; Morrison & James, 2009).

Another challenge of adaptation was cultural disconnect between Russian immigrant elders and their assimilated children, who tended to identify more with the modern American culture and lifestyle than with their Russian heritage and traditions (Polyakova & Pacquiao, 2006). This disconnect also magnified the importance of involving patients' families in the healthcare process. As the children become assimilated and adapt to the new life more quickly than their elderly parents, they are more likely to collaborate with healthcare providers in executing their parents' treatment plans. As caretakers, they are more likely to accept the health problems presented, understand the treatment options, and encourage their parents to adhere to medical instructions and follow the prescribed treatment plan (Kasatkina, 2011).

The process of immigration adaptation has been a topic of several studies, and increased familiarity with the subject may allow healthcare providers to recognize some of the unique needs elderly immigrant patients have and identify potential limitations to their access of healthcare services (Kasatkina, 2011; Pumariega, Rothe, & Pumariega, 2005). Part of developing adaptation skills for elderly Russian immigrants was expressed through help-seeking patterns in their approach to American healthcare. These patterns are characterized largely by a cultural preference for informal medical care and distrust of formal medicine. When in need of physical or psychological assistance, many Russian-Americans turn first to home- or community-based

practices rooted in their tradition rather than American pharmaceutical approaches. Russians hold these practices in high esteem, often turning to alternative therapies such as reflexology, massage, oil rubs or steam baths, homeopathy, chiropractic care, or other options before considering typical American medicine (Shpilko, 2006; Grabbe, 2000).

Some elderly Russian-speaking immigrants may be distrustful of physicians and reject health recommendations such as prescribed medication or may choose to combine medically-prescribed treatment with home remedies and treatments (Resick, 2008). There was an underlying distrust of formal medical treatment, especially drugs or anything of a chemical nature, which was seen as more harmful than helpful; as an old Russian proverb reads, "Too much of any medicine is dangerous" (Shpilko, 2006, p. 338). Caretakers can greatly benefit being aware of these cultural differences when providing care.

Serving the healthcare needs of elderly immigrant Russian patients can present special challenges. One such challenge, based on the phases of the adaption process discussed above, is the variety of overall perceptions of the new culture among elderly immigrants patients. Thus, caregivers are not only faced with providing different healthcare needs but also with the need to adjust their approach depending on the patient. Awareness of the obstacles these patients face with social integration can allow healthcare organizations and providers to serve a more diverse population (Campinha-Bacote, 2008). Currently, few healthcare studies have focused on the immigrant adaptation process. Such research examining the typical traits of immigrant patients in each phase, could help the medical community identify leading healthcare practices for diverse patients.

Theme 3: Compliance With Treatment

Differences in healthcare beliefs between the patient and provider (e.g., the explanatory model of health, illness and healing methods) can act as a barrier for and serve to further disadvantage ethnic minority patients (Scheppers et al., 2006). For Russians, these healthcare beliefs are reflected in their active practice of some form of holistic self-care; for example, many use homeopathic remedies or a variety of drugs brought from Russia to treat headaches, indigestion, bacterial infections, and other general ailments (Milshteyn & Petrov, 2004; Kasatkina, 2011; Wheat, Brownstein, & Kvitash, 1983). Generally, these practices are unrelated to what the patient is doing under the direction of American physicians (Wheat et al., 1983). Therefore, it is very important that medical providers respectfully seek to understand what types of self-treatment their elderly Russian immigrant patients may practice. Mutual respect, trust, and joint decision-making will result in the greater likelihood of a positive outcome (Scheppers et al., 2006).

Participants' comments also revealed that patient compliance with treatment is related to their different perceptions of the healthcare system. Because the primary goal of Russian healthcare is to find the root causes of a particular disease or condition (Grabbe, 2000; Benisovich & King, 2003), many Russian immigrants feel that American doctors place too much emphasis on treating the symptoms of the disease rather than trying to understand its cause from a more holistic perspective (Dohan & Levintova, 2007; Borovoy & Hine, 2008). Most Russian patients will want to have active discussions with their care provider about what caused the ailment, how it can be cured or treated, and what specifically will be involved in the process (Borovoy & Hine, 2008).

Patients' perceptions of the quality and volume of information received from their providers can have a profound effect on their reception to the information and their willingness

to use it. Nurses should remember that patients can sense when communication is lacking, and this can lead to patients feeling increased anxiety, vulnerability, and powerlessness. Overall, participants in this study agreed that patients who understand their providers are more likely to accept providers' explanations of their health problems, understand their treatment options, modify their behavior, and adhere to follow-up instructions.

Considering these observations, the results of this study appear to emphasize that effective communication is at the core of providing patient-centered care. Unfortunately, even when providers know what messages to communicate to patients, they do not always have the interpersonal skills to do so effectively. Thus, experience working with diverse cultural groups can improve care providers' interpersonal skills, leading to better patient outcomes and extended provider-patient dialogue that enables patients to disclose critical information about their health problems so that providers can make more accurate diagnoses. Good communication also develops healthcare education and counseling, resulting in more appropriate treatment regimens and better patient compliance. Effective interpersonal communication makes healthcare more efficient and cost effective; thus, patients, providers, administrators, and policy makers all have a stake in improved provider-patient interactions.

Study Limitations and Areas for Future Research

The findings of this study contribute to the understanding of how the actions of healthcare professionals can influence the health of their elderly Russian patients. Small sample size and the qualitative design provided an efficient way to gather information on major cultural differences between these patients and their providers, outline patients' general views on medicine and its purpose, and develop recommendations for healthcare providers and nurses when treating an elderly Russian immigrant patient. However, the small sample size is more

likely to limit the generalizations that can be made from this study and to neglect other important aspects of providing care for this population.

Another limitation is that qualitative methods produce data based on individual experience; therefore the findings might not be applicable to all people in the identified group. Moreover, because most of the participants (more than 85%) were situated in the same geographical area (San Diego, CA), the results might differ in other areas of the country.

Finally, because methodological analysis is open to interpretations, future research targeting a much larger sample of Russian-speaking nurses in a different region of the country is necessary to replicate and expand on the relevance and accuracy of findings outlined in this study.

Currently, there is little research on the immigrant adaptation process as it relates to healthcare. A study examining the typical traits of immigrants in each phase could help the medical community identify leading practices for diverse patients.

Conclusion

The theoretical framework for this study was Leininger's theory of cultural care diversity and universality, which holds care as the essence and unifying focus of nursing because care is embedded in social structure, worldview, language, and environmental contexts (Leininger, 1981, 2001). Cultural diversities and universalities of care exist in all cultures worldwide, and knowledge of them can guide nursing care decisions and actions to benefit patient health (Leininger 2001, Leininger & McFarland, 2006). Understanding a patient's practice of cultural norms can help providers build rapport and ensure effective communication with patients (Betancourt, Green, & Carrillo, 2002).

Russian patients bring their own cultural perspectives and values to healthcare, and many of their health beliefs and practices differ from those traditional to American healthcare. Cultural differences affect patients' attitudes about medical care and their ability to understand, manage, and cope with the course of an illness, the meaning of a diagnosis, and the consequences of medical treatment. Patients and their families hold culture-specific ideas and values about health and illness, reporting of symptoms, expectations for healthcare delivery, and the role of medication and treatments. Unfortunately, the expectation of many healthcare professionals has been that patients will conform to American values, which creates barriers to care that are compounded by differences in language and education between patients and providers.

This study presented findings relevant to overcoming these barriers to care. First, it was noted that family plays an important role in the diagnosis of illness, treatment, and care of elderly Russian immigrant patients. Therefore, a family-centered health treatment approach was recommended to enhance the overall experience of the patient and the nurse and increase the likelihood of a successful outcome. Family members are equal contributors in the problem-solving process, working with care providers to identify the goals of treatment and to plan realistic strategies to achieve these goals. Additionally, family members played a key role in implementing these strategies to ensure that treatment goals were met. Therefore, it is critically important for the nurses to inform patients and their families of their rights and adhere to the guidelines outlined in the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA). Some healthcare organizations ask patients to sign written consent forms before doctors discuss medical information with family caregivers; this is not part of HIPAA provisions, but may be part of the organization's procedural policy.

References

- Abreu, J. (1999). Conscious and non-conscious African American stereotypes: Impact on first impression and diagnostic ratings by therapists. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 67(3), 387-93.
- Andrews, M., & Boyle, J. (2008). *Transcultural concepts in nursing care*. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott, Williams and Wilkins.
- Bergelson, M. (2003). Russian cultural values and workplace communication styles.

 Communication Studies 2003: Modern Anthology. Russian Communication Association.

 Retrieved from http://www.russcomm.ru/eng/rca_biblio/b/bergelson03_eng.shtml
- Benisovich, S., & King, C. (2003). Meaning and knowledge of health among older adult immigrants from Russia: Phenomenological study. *Health Education Research*, 18(2), 135-144.
- Berry, J. W. (1986). The acculturation process and refugee behavior. In C.I. Williams and J. Westermeyer (Eds.), *Refugee mental health in resettlement countries* (pp. 25-37). New York: Hemisphere.
- Betancourt, J., Green, A., & Carrillo, E. (2002). *Cultural competence in health care: Emerging frameworks and practical approaches*. The Commonwealth Fund. Retrieved from http://www.commonwealthfund.org/Publications/Fund-Reports/2002/Oct/Cultural-Competence-in-Health-Care--Emerging-Frameworks-and-Practical-Approaches.aspx
- Bobo, L. (2001). Inequalities that endure? Racial ideology, American politics, and the peculiar role of the social sciences. Paper presented at The Changing Terrain of Race and Ethnicity Conference, Chicago, IL.

- Borovoy, A., & Hine, J. (2008). Managing the unmanagable: Elderly Russian Jewish émigrés and the biomedical culture of diabetes care. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly*, 22(1), 1-26
- Braveman, P. (2006). Health disparities and health equity: Concepts and measurement. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 27, 167-194.
- Burhans, L. M., & Alligood, M.R. (2010). Quality nursing care in the world of nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 66(8), 1689-1697.
- California Cultural Competency Task Force. (1994). *Recommendations for the medi-cal managed care program.* Sacramento, CA: California Department of Health Services.
- California Cultural and Historical Endowment Act (2002). A. 716, 107th Cong., 2nd Sess. (2002). Retrieved from http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/01-02/bill/asm/ab 07010750/ab 716 bill 20020930 chaptered.pdf
- Casimir, G.J., Butler, S., Jean-Louis, G., Zizi, F., Nunes, J., & Brady, L. (2010).

 Perceived insomnia, anxiety, and depression among older Russian immigrants.

 Psychological Reports, 106(2), 589-597.
- Clegg, A. (2003). Older South Asian patients and career perceptions of culturally sensitive care in a community hospital setting. *Journal of Clinical Nurses*, *12*(2), 283-290.
- Cross, T., Bazron, B., Dennis, K., & Isaacs, M. (1989). *Toward a culturally competent system of care*. Washington, D.C.: Georgetown University.
- Culley, L. (2006). Transcending transculturalism? Race, ethnicity and health-care. *Nursing Inquiry*, *13*, 144-153.
- De, D., & Richardson, J. (2008). Cultural safety: An introduction. *Pediatric Nurses*, 20(2), 39–44.

- Divi, C., Koss, R. G., Schmaltz, P., & Loeb, J. M. (2007). Language proficiency and adverse events in US hospitals: A pilot study. *International Journal of Quality in Health Care*, 19(2), 60-67.
- Dohan, D., & Levintova, M. (2007). Barriers beyond words: Cancer, culture, and translation in a community of Russian speakers. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 22(2), 300-305.
- Encyclopædia Britannica. (2012). Russia. Retrieved from http://www.britannica.com/EBchecked/topic/513251/Russia
- Executive Order No. 13,166, 65 C.F.R. 159 (2000). Retrieved from http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2000-08-16/pdf/00-20938.pdf#page=1
- Giger, J., Davidhizar, R., Purnell, L., Harden, J., Phillips, J., & Strickland, O. (2007).

 American academy of nursing expert panel report: Developing cultural competence to eliminate health disparities in ethnic minorities and other vulnerable populations. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 18(2), 95-102.
- Grabbe, L. (2000). Understanding patients from the former Soviet Union. *International Family Medicine*, 32(3), 201-206.
- Haden, N.K., Catalanotto, F.A., Alexander, C.J., Bailit, H., Battrell, A., Broussard, J., Buchanan, J., ... Valachovic R.W.. (2003). Improving the oral health status of all Americans: roles and responsibilities of academic dental institutions: The report of the ADEA President's Commission. *Journal of Dental Education*, 67(5), 563-583.
- Institute of Medicine (IOM). (2001). Crossing the quality Chasm: A new health system for the 21st century. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.

- Jezewski, M. A., & Sotnik, P. (2001). *Culture brokering: Providing culturally competent* rehabilitation services to foreign-born persons. Buffalo, NY: Center for International Rehabilitation Research Information and Exchange.
- Johnstone, M. J., & Kanitsaki, O. (2006). Culture, language, and patient safety: Making the link. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 18(5), 383-388.
- Kasatkina, N. (2011). Language shift and maintenance among Russian immigrants from the former Soviet Union. *Arizona Working Papers in Second Language*Acquisition and Teaching, 18, 35-54.
- Kepler, A. (2006). Lost in translation. *The Hospitalist, 11*. Retrieved from http://www.the-hospitalist.org/details/article/232237/Lost_in_Translation.html
- Khisamutdinov, A. (2002). Russian Americans. *Encyclopedia of World Cultures*Supplement. Retrieved from http://www.encyclopedia.com
- Krumeich, A., Weijts, W., Reddy, P., & Meijer-Weitz, A. (2001). The benefits of anthropological approaches for health promotion research and practice. *Health Education Research*, *16*, 121-130.
- Lai, D. (2004). Impact of culture on depressive symptoms of elderly Chinese immigrants. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 49(12), 820-827.
- Leininger, M. (1981). Transcultural nursing: Its progress and its future. *Nursing and Health Care*, *2*(7), 365-371.
- Leininger, M. (2001). Cultural care theory: A major contribution to advanced transcultural nursing knowledge and practices. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, *13*(3), 189-192.
- Leininger, M., & McFarland, M. (2006). Culture care diversity and universality: A

- worldwide nursing theory. CT: Jones and Bartlett.
- Liberovsky, A. (2006). Historical resources of the Orthodox church in America. *Slavic & East European Information Resources*, 7(2/3), 71-79.
- Meyerowitz, B., Richardson, J., Hudson, S. & Leedham, B. (1998). Ethnicity and cancer outcomes: Behavioral and psychological considerations. *Psychological Bulletin*, *123*, 47-70.
- Milshteyn, Y., & Petrov, O. (2004). *Culture clues: End-of-life care: The Russian culture*.

 Retrieved from http://depts.washington.edu/pfes/PDFs/End%20of%20Life%20Care-Russian.pdf
- Morrison, M., & James, S. (2009). Portuguese immigrant families: The impact of acculturation. *Family Process*, 48(1), 151-166.
- Morse, J. A., & Field, P.A. (1998). Nursing research: The application of qualitative approaches (2nd ed.). London: Stanley Thornes.
- National Institutes of Health (NIH). (2000). Strategic Research Plan and Budget to Reduce and Ultimately Eliminate Health Disparities, Vol. 1, Fiscal years, 2002-2006. Retrieved from http://www.nimhd.nih.gov/our_programs/strategic/pubs/volumei_031003edrev.pdf
- Nightingale, F. (1986). *Notes on nursing: What it is and what it is not*. Philadelphia, PA Lippincott.
- Polyakova, S., & Pacquiao, D. (2006). Psychological and mental illness among elder immigrants from the former Soviet Union. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, *17*(1), 40-49.

- Pumariega, A. J., Rothe, E., & Pumariega, J. B. (2005). Mental health of immigrants and refugees. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 41(5), 581-597.
- Purnell, L. D., & Paulanka, B. J. (2008). Transcultural health care: A culturally competent approach, 3rd ed. F.A. Davis.
- Quan, K. (2010). The high cost of language barriers in medical malpractice. In S. Lichtman & Youdelman, J. D. (Eds.), *National health law program*. Retrieved from http://www.pacificinterpreters.com/docs/resources/high-costs-of-language-barriers-in-malpractice_nhelp.pdf
- Remennick, L. (1999). Women of the "sandwich generation and multiple roles: The case of Russian immigrants of the 1990 in Israel. *A Journal of Research*, *40*, 347-359.
- Office of Management and Budget (OMB). (2002). Assessment of the total benefits and costs of implementing executive order no. 13166: Improving access to services for persons with limited English proficiency. Retrieved from http://www.justice.gov/crt/cor/lep/omb-lepreport.pdf
- Resick, L. K. (2008). The meaning of health among midlife Russian-speaking women. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 40(3), 248-253.
- Satcher, D., Fryer, G.E., McCann, J., Troutman, A., Woolf, S.H., & Rust, G. (2005). What if we were equal? A comparison of the Black-White mortality gap in 1960 and 2000. *Health Affairs*, 24, 459-464.
- Scheppers, E., Dongenb, E., Dekkerc, J., Geertzend, J., & Dekkere, J. (2006). Potential barriers to the use of health services among ethnic minorities: A review. *Family Practice*, 23, 325-348.
- Schyve, P. (2007). Language differences as a barrier to quality and safety in health care:

- The joint commission perspective. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *22*, 360-361.
- Shpilko, I. (2006). Russian-American health care: Bridging the communication gap between physicians and patients. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 6 (1-3), 331-341.
- Smedly, B.S., Stith, A.Y., & Nelson, A.R. (Eds.). (2003). Unequal treatment: Confronting racial and ethnic disparities in healthcare. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.

 Retrieved from http://www.nap.edu/openbook.php?record_id=10260&page=R1
- Smith, D.B. (2005). Racial and ethnic health disparities and the unfinished civil rights agenda. *Health Affairs*, 24, 317-324.
- Suurmond, J., Uiters, E., de Bruijne, M. C., Stronks, K., & Essink-Bot, M.L. (2011).

 Negative health care experiences of immigrant patients: A qualitative study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 11(1), 1-8.
- Takeshita, J., & Ahmed, I.(2004). Culture and geriatric psychiatry. In W.S. Tseng & J. Streltzer (Eds.), *Cultural competence in clinical psychiatry* (pp. 147-161). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing, Inc.
- Taleghani, C., Burke, J., Williams, S., Eisenberg, J., Escarce, J., & Ayers, W. (1999). The effect of race and sex on physicians' recommendations for cardiac catheterization.
 New England Journal of Medicine, 340, 618-626.
- The Joint Commission (TJC). (2010). The new joint commission standards for patient-centered communication. Retrieved from http://www.languageline.com/main/files/wp_joint_commission_012411.pdf
- Trumbauer, L., & Asher, R. (Eds.) (2004). Russian immigrants (Immigration to the

- United States). New York: Facts On File, 2004.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2011). New census bureau report analyzes nation's linguistic diversity.

 Retrieved from http://www.census.gov/newsroom/releases/archives/

 american_community_survey_acs/cb10-cn58.html
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services (2001). National standards on culturally and linguistically appropriate services. Retrieved from
 http://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/assets/pdf/checked/finalreport.pdf
- U.S. Department of State. (2012). Background note: Russia. Retrieved from www.state.gov/r/pa/ei/bgn/3183.htm
- Vaiani, C. (2009). Personal conscience and the problem of moral certitude. *Nursing Clinics of North America*, 44, 407-414
- van Ryn M., & Burke J. (2000). The effect of patient race and socio-economic status on physicians' perceptions of patients. *Social Science and Medicine*, *50*, 813-828.
- Wheat, M., Brownstein, H., & Kvitash, V. (1983). Aspects of medical care of Soviet Jewish émigrés. *The Western Journal of Medicine*, 139(6), 900-904.
- White, L. J. (2000). Beyond values clarification: A civic ethic for public discourse and education. In M. L. Kelley (Ed.), *Understanding cultural diversity: Culture, curriculum, and community in nursing* (pp. 39-54). Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett.

Abstract

The growing ethnically and racially diversity of the American population has a direct impact on healthcare providers. Immigration and demographic trends suggest that increasingly the U.S. elderly patient populations are linguistically and culturally diverse. A patient's inability to communicate in the same language as a provider will compromise patient health and safety. In addition, it will expose health care providers to the risk of legal liability for medical errors, malpractice, or deprivation of the patient's right to participate in health decisions. The purpose of this phenomenological qualitative study was to explain the essence of caring for the elderly non-English speaking Russian patients through the experience of Russian-speaking nurses. Leininger's Culture Care Theory and Husserl's phenomenological approach were used for this study. The data was collected through semi-structured individual interviews. Three main themes were noted from the interviews conducted regarding the healthcare of the elderly Russian non-English speaking patients. The three themes were: family connections, period of time living in America (phase of adaptation process), and compliance with treatment. This research paper provided information about Russian culture and cultural competence, as well as strategies to enhance healthcare professionals' capacity to deliver culturally competent services for the elderly Russian non-English speaking patients.

Keywords: ethnic health disparities, Leininger's theory, elderly non-English speaking
Russian, Russian speaking nurses, cultural care

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter One: Introduction	1	
Significance of the Problem	3	
Statement of the Problem	4	
Statement of the Purpose.	4	
Chapter Two: Literature Review	6	
Intercultural Care and the Immigration Adaptation Process	8	
Russian Immigration History	10	
Culturally Competent Care	11	
Conceptual Framework	14	
Chapter Three: Methods		
Participants	16	
Data Collection	16	
Data Analysis	17	
Chapter Four: Results		
Theme 1: Family Connection	19	
Theme 2: Period of Time Living in America (Adaptation Process)	20	
Theme 3: Compliance With Treatment	22	
Chapter Five: Discussion		
Theme 1: Family Connection	25	
Theme 2: Period of Time Living in America (Adaptation Process)	26	
Theme 3: Compliance With Treatment	29	

	Study Limitations and Areas for Future Research	. 31
	Conclusion	. 32
Refere	ences	. 34

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A: Demographic Form Informed

Appendix B: Consent to Participate in Research

Appendix C: Interview Questions

Appendix D: IRB Approval – Point Loma Nazarene University

CHAPTER ONE

Introduction

Racial and ethnic health disparities are among the most serious healthcare problems in the United States (Smedly, Stith, & Nelson, 2003). Estimates suggest that these disparities lead to more than 83,000 more deaths per year for Blacks than Whites (Satcher, Fryer, McCann, Troutman, Woolf, & Rust, 2005). Because they also undermine the core value of equality in American society (Smith, 2005), elimination of health disparities has become one of the primary goals of the U.S. healthcare system (Smedly et al., 2003).

During the last century the U.S. population has become more ethnically and racially diverse; however, only recently have healthcare organizations begun to realize the importance of and considerable challenges involved with redirecting their attention to the nation's ethnic subgroups (Krumeich, Weijts, Reddy, & Meijer-Weitz, 2001; Johnstone & Kanitsaki, 2006). Statistics show that in United States approximately 52 million residents (1 in 12) speak a language other than English in their homes (Kepler, 2006). The U.S. Census Bureau reported that as of 2007, 1 in 5 Americans lived in a household where a language other than English was primarily spoken (2011).

Bergelson (2003) posited that in any language there are idiomatic and colloquial expressions that can be easily misunderstood by those who are conversant in the language but not native speakers; thus, it is very important to understand the health beliefs and obtain health knowledge of immigrant populations in the U.S. For these reasons, addressing the healthcare needs of elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients

requires attention not only to language but also to culture, which connects in complex ways for the multi-cultural American patient population (Shpilko, 2006).

All industries face barriers and challenges in finding the right approach to multicultural populations, but the challenge is significantly greater in healthcare than in other industries. There is no margin for error when it a patient's health and/or life are at stake. Failure to provide services based on patient needs and values often stems from a lack of knowledge about the patient's ethnic group (Smedly et al., 2003).

Too often, myths and false beliefs cause clinical staff to develop inaccurate perceptions of a specific cultural group. Even more problematic, however, is that the U.S. healthcare system does not conform to the health-related beliefs and practices of many ethnically diverse groups (Meyerowitz, Richardson, Hudson, & Leedham, 1998).

The topic of culturally competent care for elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients is also of great personal interest. As a nurse and a Russian immigrant, the author can relate from personal experience the importance of cultural awareness in U.S. healthcare and feels a great obligation to increase nurses' cultural competence through providing educational tools.

The first wave of Russian immigration to America began in 1747 when fur traders arrived in Alaska (Trumbauer & Asher, 2004). Russians were among the first Europeans to discover the North Pacific islands and Northwest coast of North America, and in the late nineteenth century, large-scale emigration from Russia to the United States began.. Since that time, four distinct periods of immigration can be identified: 1880s-1914; 1920-1939; 1945-1955; and 1970s-present (Khisamutdinov, 2002). The primary reasons for

emigration were economic hardship, political repression, religious discrimination, or a combination of those factors.

Significance of the Problem

The growing ethnic and racial diversity of America has a direct impact on healthcare providers. Immigration and demographic trends suggest that the U.S. elderly patient populations continue to become linguistically and culturally diverse. In order to deliver appropriate and safe medical care, effective communication between patients and care providers must be established (The Joint Commission [TJC], 2010). Accordingly, it is vital for healthcare organizations to recognize patient diversity and educate staff to continue delivering high quality care. Healthcare services can no longer be provided using solely English-speaking methods; other cultures and languages must be considered in a knowledgeable and sensitive manner (Clegg, 2003; De & Richardson, 2008).

The national standards for Culturally and Linguistically Appropriate Services (CLAS) issued by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services help provide equitable, effective treatment for all patients and correct inequities that currently exist in the provision of healthcare. By making CLAS available to diverse patients, the healthcare organization has an opportunity to improve the quality of care and achieve greater health outcomes (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 2001). There are 14 standards organized into 3 themes: culturally competent care (Standards 1-3), rules for language access services (Standards 4-7), and organizational support for cultural competence (Standards 8-14; U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 2001).

Statement of the Problem

Health disparities are differences in the incidence, prevalence, mortality, and burden of disease and other adverse health conditions that exist between specific population groups in the United States (National Institutes of Health [NIH], 2000). This definition of health disparities assumes not only a difference in health but a difference in the way that social groups who have persistently experienced social disadvantage or discrimination experience health or health risks in relation to more advantaged social groups (Braveman, 2006). These differences are often attributed to conscious or unconscious biases, provider biases, and institutional discriminatory policies toward patients of diverse socioeconomic status, race, ethnicity, and/or gender orientation (Braveman, 2006).

A patient's inability to communicate in the same language as a provider compromises patient health and safety (Schyve, 2007). In addition, it exposes healthcare providers to the risk of legal liability for medical errors, malpractice, or deprivation of the patient's right to participate in health decisions (Johnstone & Kanitsaki, 2006; Quan, 2010). Specific cultural knowledge about elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients that can prevent these undesired results needs to be identified.

Statement of the Purpose

The purpose of this phenomenological qualitative study was to explain the essence of the experience of Russian-speaking nurses caring for elderly, non-English speaking Russian patients. In healthcare, the terms *care*, *caring*, and *healthcare* have been used interchangeably. And although Florence Nightingale first used the concept of caring in relation to nursing in the 1800s as "helping people live or survive in their

physical or natural environment," its function has never been fully defined or explicated (Nightingale, 1986, p.6). *Caring* is defined for this study as "meeting human needs through caring, empathetic, respectful interaction within which responsibility, intentionality and advocacy form an essential, integral foundation" (Burhans & Alligood, 2010, p. 1694).

Cultural competence is defined for this study as the attitudes, knowledge, and skills necessary for providing quality care to diverse populations (Assembly Bill No. 716, 2002). It has additionally been described as "an ongoing process that involves accepting and respecting differences and not letting one's personal beliefs have an undue influence on those whose worldview is different from one's own" (Giger, Davidhizar, Purnell, Harden, Phillips, & Strickland, 2007, p. 96). Cultural imposition intrusively applies the majority cultural view to individuals and families (Scheppers, Dongenb, Dekkerc, Geertzend, & Dekkere, 2006); examples that border on cultural imposition are prescribing a special diet without regard to the client's culture and limiting visitors to immediate family. Healthcare providers should be cognizant of expressing their cultural values too strongly until cultural issues are more fully understood (Giger et al., 2007).

CHAPTER TWO

Literature Review

As the United States becomes increasingly diverse, its healthcare system faces the enormous challenge of providing quality services to patients with limited English-speaking skills. Increased attention to quality improvement and medical error reduction cannot overlook the critical element of effective communication between healthcare providers and patients in ensuring successful health outcomes (Divi, Koss, Schmaltz, & Loeb, 2007).

Barriers to access of healthcare in the United States for immigrant patients have been extensively documented. Documentation of the impact of a language barrier on the delivery of quality care can be found in major governmental reports, including the Institute of Medicine's (IOM) report on racial and ethnic disparities in healthcare (Smedly et al., 2003) and the U.S. Office of Management and Budget's (OMB) congressional report, "Assessment of the Total Benefits and Costs of Implementing Executive Order No. 13166: Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited English Proficiency" (2002).

Executive Order No. 13166 requires federal agencies to examine the services they provide, identify any need for services to those with limited English proficiency (LEP), and develop and implement a system to provide those services so LEP persons can have meaningful access to them. The order also stipulates that federal agencies work to ensure that recipients of federal financial assistance provide meaningful access to their LEP applicants and beneficiaries (Exec. Order No. 13166, 65 C.F.R. 159, 2000).

Individuals involved in healthcare delivery interact daily with patients from many different cultural and linguistic backgrounds. Because culture and language are vital factors in how healthcare services are delivered and received, it is important that healthcare organizations and their staff understand and respond with sensitivity to the needs and preferences that diverse patients bring to the health encounter (Schyve, 2007). Providing culturally and linguistically appropriate services (CLAS) to these patients has the potential to improve access to care, quality of care, and, in the long run, health outcomes (Smedly et al., 2003).

A search of the literature related to providing optimal care to Russian and former Soviet Union (FSU) immigrants was conducted using PubMed, Medline and Google databases. Keywords searched were *ethnically diverse*, *U.S. hospitals and Russian patients*, *FSU patients*, *patient safety*, *culture*, and *language*. A manual search was also conducted to maximize the findings on the topic. There was a plethora of literature addressing the relationship between language, culture, and patient safety and addressing specific risks minority patients face when clinical staff do not understand the language or cultural differences (Divi et al., 2007; Quan, 2010).

A critical review of multidisciplinary literature on Russian patients in U.S. hospitals returned few results. Of these results, research reviewed recognized similarities between ethnic groups but omitted analysis of each group individually; this led the author to conclude that although the analysis of minority patients in the literature is extensive, there is a lack of research specifically relating to Russian immigrant patients.

Generally, the research on Russian immigrants and FSU immigrants are combined into one group representing immigrants who speak the Russian language; however, there

are significant cultural differences within the regions of the FSU (Encyclopædia Britannica, 2012; Kasatkina, 2011). Therefore, a definition of *Russian* that simply combines all Russian-speaking people into one group is inaccurate and discounts the ethnic differences between these groups. Additionally, it should be noted that the FSU was a multilingual state, with over 120 languages including Russian spoken natively (U.S. Department of State, 2012).

Intercultural Care and the Immigration Adaptation Process

Intercultural care entails a specific understanding of migratory development and its phases. *Immigration* is the process by which individuals move from one place of residence to another, usually permanently or semi-permanently. Reasons for migration can be economic, social, political, medical, or recreational; in many cases, immigrants were often displaced from a previous life that, while sometimes normal, was all too often characterized by poverty, depression, and violence (Lai, 2004; Thomas & Schwarzbaum, 2006).

Some immigration movements are voluntary, typically including a well-thought out decision and plan, while others are involuntary, spontaneous decisions to escape the home country. Voluntary immigration can seem more involuntary, however, if negative economic, social, or political realities of the home economy influence the decision, giving the immigrant a sense of hopelessness or a perception that he or she has no choice but to emigrate. Moreover, a voluntary immigration may begin to appear involuntary as various aspects make the option of returning home unmanageable.

Regardless of the reasons for immigration, each immigrant will have a different feeling about their relocation experience. These experiences can have an emotional

impact on immigrants' adaptation to their host countries, causing anxiety and distrust due to past life events (Bhugra, 2003). Healthcare professionals should be cognizant of patients' immigration experiences and seek a general understanding of the characteristic behaviors and attitudes displayed by "typical" immigrants (Cross, Bazron, Dennis, & Isaacs, 1989).

There are various styles by which the immigrant adapts to his or her new environment. Awareness of these adaptation styles can help healthcare practitioners recognize and identify stressors for patients (Giger et al., 2008). The process of adaptation depends on the pre-immigration lifestyle, the circumstances of travel to the new country, the treatment received following arrival in the new country, and the living environment of the new country. Depending on the severity of the immigration experience, immigrants might not be able to adapt at all and can end up returning to their countries of origin (Poss, 2001).

The adaption process may occur in several processes: complete assimilation, integration, separation, and marginalization (Kasatkina, 2011; Pumariega, Rothe, & Pumariega, 2005). Complete assimilation occurs when individuals are fully immersed in the prevailing culture and slowly abandon the values and beliefs of their home countries. These individuals may even end up losing their native languages or choose not to transmit their native languages to their children (Kasatkina, 2011). Integration is a more traditional approach in which immigrants maintain the culture of their home countries while embracing the values of the new country (Pumariega et al., 2005). In separation, immigrants alienate themselves from the core culture to preserve characteristics of their native cultures. Separation typically occurs when immigrants of the same origin live in

close proximity to each other and are able to complete daily tasks without communicating with members of the dominant culture (Casimir, Butler, Jean-Louis, Zizi, Nunes, & Brady, 2010). Finally, marginalization involves immigrants' belief that the host society has completely rejected their cultural values and identities. The most extreme process of adaptation, marginalization fosters antisocial behavior and results in a very limited integration into the new culture (Berry, 1986).

There is little research available on immigrant adaptation processes as they relate to healthcare. However, knowledge about the different adaptation processes can help healthcare providers recognize immigrants' unique needs and identify barriers to access of healthcare services for this population. Additionally, awareness of the challenges immigrants face with social integration can help healthcare providers serve a more diverse population (Campinha-Bacote, 2008).

Russian Immigration History

The first Russians reached America in 1747 when fur traders arrived in Alaska (Trumbauer & Asher, 2004). Russians were among the first Europeans to discover the North Pacific islands and the Northwest coast of North America (Trumbauer & Asher, 2004). The next large-scale immigration of Russians to the U.S. did not occur until late into the 19th century, when immigrants began to arrive in waves. Following the Revolution of 1917, the biggest immigration wave began in 1987 and established an annual total of 700,000 new entries per year (Liberovsky, 2006). Non-ethnic Russians in this group included Jews, Ukrainians, and any other person born and raised in Russia or the FSU.

Acculturation is a process by which one cultural group implements the beliefs and traditions of a host culture (Mills & Henretta, 2001). Acculturation is multidimensional and includes physical, psychological, financial, social, language, and relational adjustment. It is widely recognized in the literature that the process of acculturation can be very stressful for elderly immigrants in the United States because they often lack the financial and educational resources and English language proficiency required for successful adaptation (Benisovich & King, 2003; Lai, 2004; Suurmond, Uiters, de Bruijne, Stronks, & Essink-Bot, 2011).

Culturally Competent Care

Cultural competence can be defined in many different ways, as this term constantly evolves with the rapidly changing diversity in society. The general definition is a tradition of similar behaviors, approaches, and regulations that come together in a system, agency, or among professionals to allow them to work effectively in crosscultural situations (Cross et al., 1989).

The first element of this concept, *culture*, "implies the integrated patterns of human behavior that includes thoughts, communications, actions, customs, beliefs, values, as well as institutions of racial, ethnic, religious, or social groups" (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 2001). Culture is developed through different social standards, values, and various economic factors. The progress of culture can be different for every individual; however, in order to develop a bond with other people and build social relationships, the dynamic of culture must be shared. Understanding values of diverse cultures builds mutual respect and understanding (Betancourt, Green, & Carrillo, 2002).

Cultural differences impact the healthcare community and, most importantly, influence the delivery of healthcare services (Jezewski & Sotnik, 2001). Culture plays a central role in the way individuals perceive health, symptoms of illness, and healing methods; for example, where one culture believes in using heat to treat a certain ailment, another culture could strongly advise against it. On the other hand, modern healthcare was developed on the concept of ethnocentrism and is strongly focused on the incorporation of technology and science for the treatment of ailments; alternative healing methods are often disregarded as obsolete. The modern healthcare environment is often perceived by patients to be very complex, intimidating, and unfamiliar. This is why it is important to develop a healthcare environment organized around the needs of the patients to be served (White, 2000).

Competence refers to the ability to function within the context of culturally integrated patterns of human behavior defined by a group (Betancourt et al., 2002).

Cultural competence is defined as "a process that requires individuals and systems to develop and expand their ability and to have respect for cultural diversity" (Haden, Catalanotto, Alexander, Bailit, Battrell, Broussard, & Buchanan et al., 2003, p. 564).

Developing cultural competence should increase consciousness, acceptance, and aptitude to learn from and about other health-related cultural beliefs. A key element of developing cultural competency is realizing the importance of effective communication, which requires the disposition to listen and learn from people of other cultures and the establishment of a healthcare environment that provides services in multiple languages (California Cultural Competency Task Force, 1994).

Prejudice is any negative attitude about another person based on his or her group membership. Stereotyping can be defined as the process by which people acquire and recall information about others based on race, sex, religion, etc. (IOM, 2002). Prejudice often associated with stereotyping was defined in psychology as an unjustified negative attitude based on a person's group membership. Stereotyping includes having an attitude, conception, opinion, or belief about a person or group (Giger et al., 2007).

Most healthcare providers find prejudice morally abhorrent and at odds with their professional values (Vaiani, 2009). However, like other members of society, they may not recognize manifestations of prejudice in their own behavior. While there is no direct evidence that provider biases affect the quality of care for minority patients, research suggests that their diagnostic and treatment decisions, as well as their feelings about patients, can be influenced by patients' race or ethnicity (Bobo, 2001). In one experimental design, Abreu (1999) found that mental health professionals were more likely to negatively evaluate a hypothetical patient of unidentified race when subliminally primed with African American stereotype-laden words than when primed with neutral words. And in a study based on actual clinical encounters, van Ryn and Burke (2000) found that doctors rated Black patients as less intelligent, less educated, more likely to abuse drugs and alcohol, and more unlikely to comply with medical advice.

Stereotypes can also influence interpersonal interactions between providers and patients and contribute to disparities in healthcare (IOM, 2002). Although providers may not recognize manifestations of prejudice in their own behaviors, patients could react to providers' behaviors in a way that contributes to disparities. One such instance is of a healthcare provider who fails to recognize individuality within a group, causing the

patient to believe the provider is jumping to conclusions about the patient and his or her family (Giger et al., 2007).

Conceptual Framework

Leininger's cultural care theory provided the organizing framework for this study. Together with the Sunrise Model, this theory is perhaps the most well-known in nursing literature on culture and health (Leininger & McFarland, 2006). It draws from anthropological observations and studies of culture, cultural values, beliefs and practices. The theory of transcultural nursing promotes better understanding of the universally held and common understandings of care among humans as well as the culture-specific caring beliefs and behaviors that define any particular caring context or interaction. Leininger argued that the theory of cultural care diversity and universality is holistic and that culture is the specific pattern of behavior that distinguishes any society from another and gives meaning to human expressions of care (Leininger, 1981).

Leininger recognized the comparative aspects of caring within and between cultures, hence the acknowledgement of both similarities and differences in caring in diverse cultures. The model has implications for how healthcare professionals assess, plan, implement, and evaluate care of people from diverse cultural backgrounds. It has been used in a wide range of nursing specialties and across cultural groups.

The aim of the cultural care theory was to enable nurses to provide care that confirms patients' cultural perceptions of what care should be. Leininger emphasized the significance and position of culture in describing a person's health and manners (Leininger & McFarland, 2006). The roots of her theory are in clinical nursing practice; Leininger discovered that patients from different cultures appreciated care more than the

nurses did. Progressively, Leininger became convinced of the need for a theoretical framework to determine, describe, and calculate measurements of care and developed the cultural care theory after analyzing numerous studies of Western and non-Western cultures (Leininger & McFarland, 2006).

Leininger (2001, 2006) outlines several theoretical expectations and descriptions to guide nurses in their encounter of culture care phenomena. The following expectations regarding care and caring were significant when explaining the essence of caring for elderly, non-English-speaking Russian-American patients:

- care (caring) is crucial to treating and healing; there can be no healing without caring;
- each human culture has lay (ethnic, universal, or traditional) care knowledge and practices and usually some professional care knowledge and practices, which vary transculturally;
- cultural care values, beliefs, and practices are influenced by and tend to be rooted
 in the language, philosophy, religion, relationship, social, political, illegal,
 educational, economic, and environmental backgrounds of cultures; and
- a patient who faces nursing care that misses the mark of his or her beliefs and values will show signs of cultural conflict, noncompliance, depression, and ethical or moral concern. (Leininger, 2001, p. 189)

CHAPTER THREE

Methods

The purpose of this phenomenological qualitative study was to explore the experience of Russian-speaking nurses caring for elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients. This study was based on the experience of Russian-American nurses providing care to this type of patient. The goal of this study was to assist nurses and other healthcare professionals in providing specific care to meet the needs of elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients.

This study utilized Edmund Husserl's phenomenological approach to focus on the participants' experiences of caring rather than on the nature of caring as perceived by participants. A qualitative research design was used to allow the experience of caring to be discovered inductively within the cultural context (Morse & Field, 1998).

Participants

The participants for this study were seven male and female Russian-speaking registered nurses (RNs; Appendix A) with at least five years of experience providing direct, hands-on adult patient care at the general or intermediate care levels of hospitals, adult healthcare centers, and/or outpatient health services of San Diego, California and Tampa, Florida. Participants were renamed with pseudonyms (N1-N7) to ensure confidentiality.

Data Collection

Participants were informed of the purpose of the study and invited to participate in interviews (Appendix B). Participants were informed at the beginning of the interview

of their rights to withdraw any time. They were allowed to choose a quiet, safe environment in which they could freely articulate responses.

The data were collected in Russian through one semi-structured tape-recorded interview and one web conference interview via Skype with open-ended questions (Appendix C). Approval for the study was obtained from the Point Loma Nazarene University Institutional Review Board (Appendix D). Fieldnotes were used to document observations relevant to the interview, such as observations about participants' expressions and behaviors, that could not be captured by voice recordings.

Participation in this research study was entirely voluntary and participants could refuse to participate or withdraw any time during the study. All data were collected anonymously so that there was not any way of linking the data with the participants.

Participants were asked to fill out demographic data form prior to interviews. Interviews were 45-60 minutes in length. All interviews were then transcribed verbatim into English.

Data Analysis

The data were analyzed, interpreted, and synthesized using Colaizzi's (1978) methodological interpretations. Collaizzi's analysis was chosen as it allowed analysis to occur simultaneously with data collection (Omery, 1983), the stages were flexible and non-linear (Holloway & Wheeler, 1996), and participants validated their transcripts, thereby enhancing the rigor of the study.

After the transcripts of the interview were read and reread, the interview responses were categorized. This allowed for identification of significant statements and meanings of specific cultural care for elderly non-English-speaking Russian patients.

Following this step, the researcher's personal notes were compared with the interview

data, and the meanings were organized into theme clusters. The researcher referred back to the original translated transcripts for validation., noting any discrepancies. Then, results were integrated into complete descriptions of the phenomenon of specific care; the process was concluded when all participants had validated the findings.

CHAPTER FOUR

Results

Three main themes emerged from participant interviews on the healthcare of elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients: *family connections*, *period of time living in America* (phase of adaptation process), and *compliance with treatment*.

Theme 1: Family Connection

Family involvement and a strong family bond were described as essential to the experience of caring for elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients. The interaction between the nurse, the patient, and his or her family was best described thus by Russian-speaking nurses surveyed for this research: "Involving the patient's family is a must" (N3). Consequently, for all the participants, the family served as the primary decision-maker in the care of the elderly patients. This description of family involvement appeared throughout the interviews, and participants recommended a family-centered approach for conveying medical information:

...the family makes all the decisions regarding the patient's healthcare and it is important to build good rapport with them in order to provide high quality care (N4).

Most of the times the family will make a decision on the final treatment plan. The patient won't make any decisions on their own, so it will be counterproductive if the family is excluded (N5).

In addition, the presence of the family during the discussion of patient's condition and plan of care was an important factor:

If their family is not here, the patient will ask me to wait to go over the specific treatment options so their family is there to listen, ask questions and make the ultimate decision about the healthcare plan (N1).

Participants noted that care and reassurance from the family also played a large role in patient care:

The support that the elderly receive from their family is the best medicine (N7). The family also played an important role in helping nurses communicate with the patient and facilitate the patient's care and healing:

[I]t is very important to get the family involved, since dealing directly with the patient could be very difficult (N5).

In cases where the patient refused care, the nurse would work with the family to make the patient comfortable with the treatment plan:

Sometimes I am not able to convince the patient one way or another, but I know family can definitely help in such situations (N2).

Finally, participants pointed out the importance of developing trust in the nurse-family relationship. One participant said, "Always make sure to involve the family during the process. This will make your life easier and the patient will be very happy" (N6).

Theme 2: Period Of Time Living In America (Adaptation Process)

Participants drew attention to the differences in perceptions of medical care between patients who were new arrivers to the U.S. and patients who had lived in the country for some time. One participant stated, "...the longer the patient has been in the United States, the more they will comfortable with communicating with me and they are more confident in the quality of health care that they will receive" (N4). Another noted,

"... patients who have been lived in America for a long time felt more at ease with asking specific healthcare questions and were less apprehensive about the healthcare provided "(N7).

The participants also reported observing that elderly patients who were new immigrant displayed a distrustful attitude, appeared suspicious of healthcare professionals, and were very guarded:

...[they] tend to be suspicious of younger nurses, especially if the nurse is smiling. This type of scenario usually occurs for patients that are new to the United States, as they are not used to people being friendly. Initially, this type of patient believes that the nurse wants something from them or is being unprofessional by smiling at them. As these patients grow more accustomed to the American culture, they begin to understand the friendly demeanor of the nursing staff and become more informed about the hospital rules (N3).

Participants also noted that in the beginning, the elderly patients demonstrated a strong connection to their native cultural practices and health beliefs; however, as time progressed, they became more accustomed to American healthcare beliefs and practices.

One nurse described her experience thus:

It is very interesting how I am perceived as a Russian-speaking nurse by the elderly Russian patients who are new to this country. For example, if I were a nurse in Russia, they would all think that I was not smart enough to become a doctor or that I have a bad husband and that's why I am only a nurse and not a doctor. Then afterwards, I would see the same patient come back and they have completely changed their mind on their own. They begin to look at me as their

primary health caretaker. This occurs as these patients assimilate into the new American culture (N5).

The nurses also reported that patients who had lived in America for a long time were easier to talk to and were much more receptive to suggestions made by healthcare professionals:

...they are much easier to talk to because they are willing to listen and they try very hard to understand the given situation. For elderly people who have lived here for an extended period of time I just have to remind them of what they have forgotten (N1).

When asked about differences in behavior of patients that have lived in the U.S. longer, one participant noted,

Patients who have lived here for awhile and know the system know there is a big difference between personal and professional relationships. For newcomers it is hard to understand and differentiate the two. It definitely takes some time of getting used to so it is my responsibility to help the patient and the family to understand the laws and professional conduct in the healthcare system" (N6).

Overall, as patients became more accustomed to life in the U.S., they felt more confident, were less afraid to ask questions, and became more familiar with patient healthcare rights.

Theme 3: Compliance With Treatment

Based on participants' responses, many elderly patients who were new immigrants did not seek formal medical care except for complicated cases. Rather, patients took a proactive role in maintaining their own health and often used home

remedies or self-treatment for any symptoms identified before seeking physician care. Historically, Russians have greatly respected forms of alternative medicine (e.g., herbal teas, alcoholic tinctures, and other methods to treat disease and promote a healthy lifestyle) and used them often for traditional care. Participants reported patients' use of traditional herbal remedies in conjunction with standard Western medical treatments.

Participants reported that although the patients appeared enormously interested in learning the details of their initial treatment plans and indicated their desire to take a proactive role in their healthcare, they were very suspicious of any medicine prescribed for them and appeared reluctant to take medication even after receiving very detailed explanations from healthcare staff:

[they] are very suspicious of everything. They will double and triple check everything that is given to them. They will contact their relatives and friends in the United States and Russia to seek additional opinions and possible care options and involve everyone around them in their healthcare treatment. They will take medication only if it agrees with their understanding of [the] healthcare treatment (N4).

Some patients simply refused to take any prescribed medication, while others believed that pills were only needed when they experienced symptoms:

I had an elderly man who hid his medication in his cheek because he did not trust American medicine and did not want to tell us anything (N2). ...they refuse to take their blood pressure medicine. I continually hear the same type of response for these patients, such as "Why do I need to take this medicine for blood pressure if I feel normal today?" (N3).

On the other hand, participants believed patients remained very cognizant of their healthcare plans and were more likely to gather information on experimental treatments and more inclined to consider such treatments, especially if they had already obtained previous information about them.

One participant observed, "Most [elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients] are very highly educated individuals" (N6). Thus, it was noted that healthcare professionals must treat these individuals respect and understanding: "...know what you are talking about and don't dismiss this patients as 'old and dumb' just because they do not speak English. They will ask intelligent questions and will be able to determine if your answers are not based on actual knowledge" (N5).

Participants also believed these patients had a very high tolerance for pain and were thus more likely to misstate their actual state of health. One participant reported, "...they can tolerate pain very well and even if they don't, they have been taught not to complain. They tend to say that they are fine, when in reality the pain level could be extremely high" (N7).

CHAPTER FIVE

Discussion

In this study, Russian-speaking nurses provided insight on healthcare beliefs, culturally appropriate methods of care, and interpersonal interaction challenges specific to elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients. The nurses reported that caring for these patients allowed them to share their cultural knowledge and experiences with their peers. Overall, the participants felt that even a limited knowledge of Russian cultural customs and attitudes could help to greatly improve patient interactions and patient-nurse relationships. This is validated in the literature suggesting that patient-nurse trust relations are often influenced by cultural norms and that patient interactions are also impacted by nurses' cultural backgrounds (Takeshita & Ahmed, 2004).

Theme 1: Family Connection

The theme of family connection and involvement emerged in all participant interviews. Based on participants' observations, it was apparent the process of taking care of the elderly patients was a significant responsibility for Russian families. The families treated the patients with respect, went to great lengths to ensure that someone was always available to listen to their concerns and questions, and usually stayed with patients around the clock to make sure they were not alone. In this study, family involvement in patient care was described as a culturally normative behavior. Family was recognized as a very important factor with a significant influence on the patients' emotional, social, and psychological health.

Participants emphasized that getting the family involved and developing a trust in the nurse-family relationship should be a priority for healthcare staff. Similarly, Shpilko (2006) advises nurses caring for elderly Russian patients to determine the role of the patients' families and highlights that communicating effectively with patients and families is the foundation of providing quality healthcare. Leininger (1981) also argued that including the patient's family in care planning is essential to the delivery of culturally competent care.

Participants reported a tendency for family members to shield patients from their healthcare concerns and worries. As Shpilko (2006) explained, it is the family's "obligation to take on the burden of the truth" (p. 332); such belief demonstrates the intensely familial nature of the Russian community and the importance of their internal support networks. Similarly, Milshteyn and Petrov (2004) found that the problems of the patient were considered family problems and discussed by the entire family. Further, news about the patient's health was delivered to the family, who passed it along to the patient at a later time (Cichocki, 2008). This allows the patient to be surrounded by close family and friends who can provide the support necessary to cope with the news of the illness (Milshteyn & Petrov, 2004). This study corroborates existing research suggesting that the way a healthcare provider communicates information to a patient can be as important as the information being conveyed and that recognizing the role of the patient's family is vital in caring for elderly, non-English-speaking Russian patients.

Theme 2: Period Of Time Living In America (Adaptation Process)

Participants also saw a direct correlation between the length of time patients had lived in America and their perceptions of the overall quality of their medical care.

Patients who had lived in the U.S. longer were more confident in navigating the healthcare system than patients who had recently begun their lives in the country.

Participants noted that elderly patients who had newly arrived to the U.S. demonstrated a strong connection to their native cultural practices and health beliefs, but as time progressed, they became more accustomed to American healthcare beliefs and practices. This observation of adaption was supported in the literature; Polyakova and Pacquiao (2006) posited that elderly Russians who left the Soviet Union to live in the United States experience the twin challenges of aging and acculturation: "Older members often left their homeland for the sake of their children and subsequently face issues of acculturation and aging at the same time" (p. 44). Some studies suggest that low adaptation acts as a barrier to these individuals' use of health services (Scheppers et al., 2006; Morrison & James, 2009).

Another challenge of adaptation was cultural disconnect between Russian immigrant elders and their assimilated children, who tended to identify more with the modern American culture and lifestyle than with their Russian heritage and traditions (Polyakova & Pacquiao, 2006). This disconnect also magnified the importance of involving patients' families in the healthcare process. As the children become assimilated and adapt to the new life more quickly than their elderly parents, they are more likely to collaborate with healthcare providers in executing their parents' treatment plans. As caretakers, they are more likely to accept the health problems presented, understand the treatment options, and encourage their parents to adhere to medical instructions and follow the prescribed treatment plan (Kasatkina, 2011).

The process of immigration adaptation has been a topic of several studies, and increased familiarity with the subject may allow healthcare providers to recognize some of the unique needs elderly immigrant patients have and identify potential limitations to

their access of healthcare services (Kasatkina, 2011; Pumariega, Rothe, & Pumariega, 2005). Part of developing adaptation skills for elderly Russian immigrants was expressed through help-seeking patterns in their approach to American healthcare. These patterns are characterized largely by a cultural preference for informal medical care and distrust of formal medicine. When in need of physical or psychological assistance, many Russian-Americans turn first to home- or community-based practices rooted in their tradition rather than American pharmaceutical approaches. Russians hold these practices in high esteem, often turning to alternative therapies such as reflexology, massage, oil rubs or steam baths, homeopathy, chiropractic care, or other options before considering typical American medicine (Shpilko, 2006; Grabbe, 2000).

Some elderly Russian-speaking immigrants may be distrustful of physicians and reject health recommendations such as prescribed medication or may choose to combine medically-prescribed treatment with home remedies and treatments (Resick, 2008). There was an underlying distrust of formal medical treatment, especially drugs or anything of a chemical nature, which was seen as more harmful than helpful; as an old Russian proverb reads, "Too much of any medicine is dangerous" (Shpilko, 2006, p. 338). Caretakers can greatly benefit being aware of these cultural differences when providing care.

Serving the healthcare needs of elderly immigrant Russian patients can present special challenges. One such challenge, based on the phases of the adaption process discussed above, is the variety of overall perceptions of the new culture among elderly immigrants patients. Thus, caregivers are not only faced with providing different healthcare needs but also with the need to adjust their approach depending on the patient. Awareness of the obstacles these patients face with social integration can allow

healthcare organizations and providers to serve a more diverse population (Campinha-Bacote, 2008). Currently, few healthcare studies have focused on the immigrant adaptation process. Such research examining the typical traits of immigrant patients in each phase, could help the medical community identify leading healthcare practices for diverse patients.

Theme 3: Compliance With Treatment

Differences in healthcare beliefs between the patient and provider (e.g., the explanatory model of health, illness and healing methods) can act as a barrier for and serve to further disadvantage ethnic minority patients (Scheppers et al., 2006). For Russians, these healthcare beliefs are reflected in their active practice of some form of holistic self-care; for example, many use homeopathic remedies or a variety of drugs brought from Russia to treat headaches, indigestion, bacterial infections, and other general ailments (Milshteyn & Petrov, 2004; Kasatkina, 2011; Wheat, Brownstein, & Kvitash, 1983). Generally, these practices are unrelated to what the patient is doing under the direction of American physicians (Wheat et al., 1983). Therefore, it is very important that medical providers respectfully seek to understand what types of self-treatment their elderly Russian immigrant patients may practice. Mutual respect, trust, and joint decision-making will result in the greater likelihood of a positive outcome (Scheppers et al., 2006).

Participants' comments also revealed that patient compliance with treatment is related to their different perceptions of the healthcare system. Because the primary goal of Russian healthcare is to find the root causes of a particular disease or condition (Grabbe, 2000; Benisovich & King, 2003), many Russian immigrants feel that American

doctors place too much emphasis on treating the symptoms of the disease rather than trying to understand its cause from a more holistic perspective (Dohan & Levintova, 2007; Borovoy & Hine, 2008). Most Russian patients will want to have active discussions with their care provider about what caused the ailment, how it can be cured or treated, and what specifically will be involved in the process (Borovoy & Hine, 2008).

Patients' perceptions of the quality and volume of information received from their providers can have a profound effect on their reception to the information and their willingness to use it. Nurses should remember that patients can sense when communication is lacking, and this can lead to patients feeling increased anxiety, vulnerability, and powerlessness. Overall, participants in this study agreed that patients who understand their providers are more likely to accept providers' explanations of their health problems, understand their treatment options, modify their behavior, and adhere to follow-up instructions.

Considering these observations, the results of this study appear to emphasize that effective communication is at the core of providing patient-centered care. Unfortunately, even when providers know what messages to communicate to patients, they do not always have the interpersonal skills to do so effectively. Thus, experience working with diverse cultural groups can improve care providers' interpersonal skills, leading to better patient outcomes and extended provider-patient dialogue that enables patients to disclose critical information about their health problems so that providers can make more accurate diagnoses. Good communication also develops healthcare education and counseling, resulting in more appropriate treatment regimens and better patient compliance. Effective interpersonal communication makes healthcare more efficient and cost effective; thus,

patients, providers, administrators, and policy makers all have a stake in improved provider-patient interactions.

Study Limitations and Areas for Future Research

The findings of this study contribute to the understanding of how the actions of healthcare professionals can influence the health of their elderly Russian patients. Small sample size and the qualitative design provided an efficient way to gather information on major cultural differences between these patients and their providers, outline patients' general views on medicine and its purpose, and develop recommendations for healthcare providers and nurses when treating an elderly Russian immigrant patient. However, the small sample size is more likely to limit the generalizations that can be made from this study and to neglect other important aspects of providing care for this population.

Another limitation is that qualitative methods produce data based on individual experience; therefore the findings might not be applicable to all people in the identified group. Moreover, because most of the participants (more than 85%) were situated in the same geographical area (San Diego, CA), the results might differ in other areas of the country.

Finally, because methodological analysis is open to interpretations, future research targeting a much larger sample of Russian-speaking nurses in a different region of the country is necessary to replicate and expand on the relevance and accuracy of findings outlined in this study.

Currently, there is little research on the immigrant adaptation process as it relates to healthcare. A study examining the typical traits of immigrants in each phase could help the medical community identify leading practices for diverse patients.

Conclusion

The theoretical framework for this study was Leininger's theory of cultural care diversity and universality, which holds care as the essence and unifying focus of nursing because care is embedded in social structure, worldview, language, and environmental contexts (Leininger, 1981, 2001). Cultural diversities and universalities of care exist in all cultures worldwide, and knowledge of them can guide nursing care decisions and actions to benefit patient health (Leininger 2001, Leininger & McFarland, 2006). Understanding a patient's practice of cultural norms can help providers build rapport and ensure effective communication with patients (Betancourt, Green, & Carrillo, 2002).

Russian patients bring their own cultural perspectives and values to healthcare, and many of their health beliefs and practices differ from those traditional to American healthcare. Cultural differences affect patients' attitudes about medical care and their ability to understand, manage, and cope with the course of an illness, the meaning of a diagnosis, and the consequences of medical treatment. Patients and their families hold culture-specific ideas and values about health and illness, reporting of symptoms, expectations for healthcare delivery, and the role of medication and treatments.

Unfortunately, the expectation of many healthcare professionals has been that patients will conform to American values, which creates barriers to care that are compounded by differences in language and education between patients and providers.

This study presented findings relevant to overcoming these barriers to care. First, it was noted that family plays an important role in the diagnosis of illness, treatment, and care of elderly Russian immigrant patients. Therefore, a family-centered health treatment approach was recommended to enhance the overall experience of the patient and the

nurse and increase the likelihood of a successful outcome. Family members are equal contributors in the problem-solving process, working with care providers to identify the goals of treatment and to plan realistic strategies to achieve these goals. Additionally, family members played a key role in implementing these strategies to ensure that treatment goals were met. Therefore, it is critically important for the nurses to inform patients and their families of their rights and adhere to the guidelines outlined in the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA). Some healthcare organizations ask patients to sign written consent forms before doctors discuss medical information with family caregivers; this is not part of HIPAA provisions, but may be part of the organization's procedural policy.

References

- Abreu, J. (1999). Conscious and non-conscious African American stereotypes: Impact on first impression and diagnostic ratings by therapists. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 67(3), 387-93.
- Andrews, M., & Boyle, J. (2008). *Transcultural concepts in nursing care*. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott, Williams and Wilkins.
- Bergelson, M. (2003). Russian cultural values and workplace communication styles.

 Communication Studies 2003: Modern Anthology. Russian Communication

 Association. Retrieved from

 http://www.russcomm.ru/eng/rca_biblio/b/bergelson03_eng.shtml
- Benisovich, S., & King, C. (2003). Meaning and knowledge of health among older adult immigrants from Russia: Phenomenological study. *Health Education Research*, *18*(2), 135-144.
- Berry, J. W. (1986). The acculturation process and refugee behavior. In C.I. Williams and J. Westermeyer (Eds.), *Refugee mental health in resettlement countries* (pp. 25-37). New York: Hemisphere.
- Betancourt, J., Green, A., & Carrillo, E. (2002). *Cultural competence in health care: Emerging frameworks and practical approaches*. The Commonwealth Fund.

 Retrieved from http://www.commonwealthfund.org/Publications/Fund-Reports/2002/Oct/Cultural-Competence-in-Health-Care--Emerging-Frameworks-and-Practical-Approaches.aspx
- Bobo, L. (2001). Inequalities that endure? Racial ideology, American politics, and the peculiar role of the social sciences. Paper presented at The Changing Terrain of

- Race and Ethnicity Conference, Chicago, IL.
- Borovoy, A., & Hine, J. (2008). Managing the unmanagable: Elderly Russian Jewish émigrés and the biomedical culture of diabetes care. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly*, 22(1), 1-26
- Braveman, P. (2006). Health disparities and health equity: Concepts and measurement. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 27, 167-194.
- Burhans, L. M., & Alligood, M.R. (2010). Quality nursing care in the world of nursing. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 66(8), 1689-1697.
- California Cultural Competency Task Force. (1994). *Recommendations for the medi-cal managed care program*. Sacramento, CA: California Department of Health Services.
- California Cultural and Historical Endowment Act (2002). A. 716, 107th Cong., 2nd Sess. (2002). Retrieved from http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/01-02/bill/asm/ab 07010750/ab 716 bill 20020930 chaptered.pdf
- Casimir, G.J., Butler, S., Jean-Louis, G., Zizi, F., Nunes, J., & Brady, L. (2010).

 Perceived insomnia, anxiety, and depression among older Russian immigrants.

 Psychological Reports, 106(2), 589-597.
- Clegg, A. (2003). Older South Asian patients and career perceptions of culturally sensitive care in a community hospital setting. *Journal of Clinical Nurses*, *12*(2), 283-290.
- Cross, T., Bazron, B., Dennis, K., & Isaacs, M. (1989). *Toward a culturally competent system of care*. Washington, D.C.: Georgetown University.

- Culley, L. (2006). Transcending transculturalism? Race, ethnicity and health-care.

 Nursing Inquiry, 13, 144-153.
- De, D., & Richardson, J. (2008). Cultural safety: An introduction. *Pediatric Nurses*, 20(2), 39–44.
- Divi, C., Koss, R. G., Schmaltz, P., & Loeb, J. M. (2007). Language proficiency and adverse events in US hospitals: A pilot study. *International Journal of Quality in Health Care*, 19(2), 60-67.
- Dohan, D., & Levintova, M. (2007). Barriers beyond words: Cancer, culture, and translation in a community of Russian speakers. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 22(2), 300-305.
- Encyclopædia Britannica. (2012). Russia. Retrieved from http://www.britannica.com/EBchecked/topic/513251/Russia
- Executive Order No. 13,166, 65 C.F.R. 159 (2000). Retrieved from http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2000-08-16/pdf/00-20938.pdf#page=1
- Giger, J., Davidhizar, R., Purnell, L., Harden, J., Phillips, J., & Strickland, O. (2007).

 American academy of nursing expert panel report: Developing cultural competence to eliminate health disparities in ethnic minorities and other vulnerable populations. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 18(2), 95-102.
- Grabbe, L. (2000). Understanding patients from the former Soviet Union. *International Family Medicine*, 32(3), 201-206.
- Haden, N.K., Catalanotto, F.A., Alexander, C.J., Bailit, H., Battrell, A., Broussard, J., Buchanan, J., ... Valachovic R.W.. (2003). Improving the oral health status of all Americans: roles and responsibilities of academic dental institutions: The report

- of the ADEA President's Commission. *Journal of Dental Education*, 67(5), 563-583.
- Institute of Medicine (IOM). (2001). Crossing the quality Chasm: A new health system for the 21st century. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Jezewski, M. A., & Sotnik, P. (2001). *Culture brokering: Providing culturally competent rehabilitation services to foreign-born persons*. Buffalo, NY: Center for International Rehabilitation Research Information and Exchange.
- Johnstone, M. J., & Kanitsaki, O. (2006). Culture, language, and patient safety: Making the link. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 18(5), 383-388.
- Kasatkina, N. (2011). Language shift and maintenance among Russian immigrants from the former Soviet Union. *Arizona Working Papers in Second Language*Acquisition and Teaching, 18, 35-54.
- Kepler, A. (2006). Lost in translation. *The Hospitalist, 11*. Retrieved from http://www.the-hospitalist.org/details/article/232237/Lost in Translation.html
- Khisamutdinov, A. (2002). Russian Americans. *Encyclopedia of World Cultures*Supplement. Retrieved from http://www.encyclopedia.com
- Krumeich, A., Weijts, W., Reddy, P., & Meijer-Weitz, A. (2001). The benefits of anthropological approaches for health promotion research and practice. *Health Education Research*, 16, 121-130.
- Lai, D. (2004). Impact of culture on depressive symptoms of elderly Chinese immigrants. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 49(12), 820-827.
- Leininger, M. (1981). Transcultural nursing: Its progress and its future. *Nursing and Health Care*, *2*(7), 365-371.

- Leininger, M. (2001). Cultural care theory: A major contribution to advanced transcultural nursing knowledge and practices. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 13(3), 189-192.
- Leininger, M., & McFarland, M. (2006). *Culture care diversity and universality: A worldwide nursing theory*. CT: Jones and Bartlett.
- Liberovsky, A. (2006). Historical resources of the Orthodox church in America. *Slavic & East European Information Resources*, 7(2/3), 71-79.
- Meyerowitz, B., Richardson, J., Hudson, S. & Leedham, B. (1998). Ethnicity and cancer outcomes: Behavioral and psychological considerations. *Psychological Bulletin*, *123*, 47-70.
- Milshteyn, Y., & Petrov, O. (2004). *Culture clues: End-of-life care: The Russian culture*.

 Retrieved from

 http://depts.washington.edu/pfes/PDFs/End%20of%20Life%20Care-Russian.pdf
- Morrison, M., & James, S. (2009). Portuguese immigrant families: The impact of acculturation. *Family Process*, 48(1), 151-166.
- Morse, J. A., & Field, P.A. (1998). Nursing research: The application of qualitative approaches (2nd ed.). London: Stanley Thornes.
- National Institutes of Health (NIH). (2000). Strategic Research Plan and Budget to Reduce and Ultimately Eliminate Health Disparities, Vol. 1, Fiscal years, 2002-2006. Retrieved from http://www.nimhd.nih.gov/our_programs/strategic/pubs/volumei_031003edrev.pdf

- Nightingale, F. (1986). *Notes on nursing: What it is and what it is not*. Philadelphia, PA Lippincott.
- Polyakova, S., & Pacquiao, D. (2006). Psychological and mental illness among elder immigrants from the former Soviet Union. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, *17*(1), 40-49.
- Pumariega, A. J., Rothe, E., & Pumariega, J. B. (2005). Mental health of immigrants and refugees. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 41(5), 581-597.
- Purnell, L. D., & Paulanka, B. J. (2008). Transcultural health care: A culturally competent approach, 3rd ed. F.A. Davis.
- Quan, K. (2010). The high cost of language barriers in medical malpractice. In S. Lichtman & Youdelman, J. D. (Eds.), *National health law program*. Retrieved from http://www.pacificinterpreters.com/docs/resources/high-costs-of-language-barriers-in-malpractice_nhelp.pdf
- Remennick, L. (1999). Women of the "sandwich generation and multiple roles: The case of Russian immigrants of the 1990 in Israel. *A Journal of Research*, *40*, 347-359.
- Office of Management and Budget (OMB). (2002). Assessment of the total benefits and costs of implementing executive order no. 13166: Improving access to services for persons with limited English proficiency. Retrieved from http://www.justice.gov/crt/cor/lep/omb-lepreport.pdf
- Resick, L. K. (2008). The meaning of health among midlife Russian-speaking women. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 40(3), 248-253.

- Satcher, D., Fryer, G.E., McCann, J., Troutman, A., Woolf, S.H., & Rust, G. (2005).

 What if we were equal? A comparison of the Black-White mortality gap in 1960 and 2000. *Health Affairs*, 24, 459-464.
- Scheppers, E., Dongenb, E., Dekkerc, J., Geertzend, J., & Dekkere, J. (2006). Potential barriers to the use of health services among ethnic minorities: A review. *Family Practice*, *23*, 325-348.
- Schyve, P. (2007). Language differences as a barrier to quality and safety in health care:

 The joint commission perspective. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 22, 360-361.
- Shpilko, I. (2006). Russian-American health care: Bridging the communication gap between physicians and patients. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 6 (1-3), 331-341.
- Smedly, B.S., Stith, A.Y., & Nelson, A.R. (Eds.). (2003). Unequal treatment:

 Confronting racial and ethnic disparities in healthcare. Washington, DC: National Academies Press. Retrieved from

 http://www.nap.edu/openbook.php?record_id=10260&page=R1
- Smith, D.B. (2005). Racial and ethnic health disparities and the unfinished civil rights agenda. *Health Affairs*, *24*, 317-324.
- Suurmond, J., Uiters, E., de Bruijne, M. C., Stronks, K., & Essink-Bot, M.L. (2011).

 Negative health care experiences of immigrant patients: A qualitative study. *BMC*Health Services Research, 11(1), 1-8.
- Takeshita, J., & Ahmed, I.(2004). Culture and geriatric psychiatry. In W.S. Tseng & J. Streltzer (Eds.), *Cultural competence in clinical psychiatry* (pp. 147-161).

- Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing, Inc.
- Taleghani, C., Burke, J., Williams, S., Eisenberg, J., Escarce, J., & Ayers, W. (1999). The effect of race and sex on physicians' recommendations for cardiac catheterization.

 New England Journal of Medicine, 340, 618-626.
- The Joint Commission (TJC). (2010). The new joint commission standards for patient-centered communication. Retrieved from http://www.languageline.com/main/files/wp_joint_commission_012411.pdf
- Trumbauer, L., & Asher, R. (Eds.) (2004). Russian immigrants (Immigration to the United States). New York: Facts On File, 2004.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2011). New census bureau report analyzes nation's linguistic diversity. Retrieved from http://www.census.gov/newsroom/releases/archives/american_community_survey_acs/cb10-cn58.html
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services (2001). National standards on culturally and linguistically appropriate services. Retrieved from http://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/assets/pdf/checked/finalreport.pdf
- U.S. Department of State. (2012). Background note: Russia. Retrieved from www.state.gov/r/pa/ei/bgn/3183.htm
- Vaiani, C. (2009). Personal conscience and the problem of moral certitude. *Nursing Clinics of North America*, 44, 407-414
- van Ryn M., & Burke J. (2000). The effect of patient race and socio-economic status on physicians' perceptions of patients. *Social Science and Medicine*, 50, 813-828.
- Wheat, M., Brownstein, H., & Kvitash, V. (1983). Aspects of medical care of Soviet Jewish émigrés. *The Western Journal of Medicine*, 139(6), 900-904.

White, L. J. (2000). Beyond values clarification: A civic ethic for public discourse and education. In M. L. Kelley (Ed.), *Understanding cultural diversity: Culture, curriculum, and community in nursing* (pp. 39-54). Sudbury, MA: Jones & Bartlett.